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ABSTRACT 

Conditions of life greatly influence the trend and development 

of educational opportunity. Geographic, economic, and sociological 

conditions were retarding factors in the early development of higher 

education in Hopkinsville and Christian County. 

From 1782, when the first settlers came into the area, until 

around 1830, when the local census increased sharply, the settlers 

were so widely scattered and so surrounded by the wilderness there 

appears to have been no effort to establish and maintain institutions 

of higher learning. The people were engaged in the various duties 

required about the home and farm for a livelihood; hence, these 

conditions made such an undertaking impossible. 

After the population had increased considerably, there arose 

a desire for more formal training than that offered at home. To meet 

this need, a number of academies were established, usually associated 

with a church and taught by a minister or of a private, subscription 

nature, frequently taught by a young lady. 

Slightly over a half century after the settlement of Hopkins­

ville, a Christian Church minister, John M. Barnes, organized South 

Kentucky Institute , the first school above the academy level in the 

county seat . As a girl's school for over thirty years, it offered the 

course work and emphasized the social graces considered necessary for 

the proper development of a young lady of the time. In 1881 the school 

became coeducational and featured a military department for boys in 

additi on t o a deg ree-o r iented program . The name of the school was 
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changed to McLean College in 1908, the trustees hopeful that the new name 

would prove of value for student recruitment. Financial reverses caused 

in part by the fires forced the school to merge with Transylvania College 

at Lexington in 1914. 

Bethel Female High School became the second institution of higher 

learning for young women to be established in Hopkinsville. Operated by 

the Baptist denomination for 110 years, the school functioned under the 

names of Bethel Female College and Bethel Woman's College before becoming 

coeducational in 1951 as Bethel College. In 1964 financial problems 

forced its closing. 

In 1883, the First District Colored Baptist Association established 

a ministerial school, Hopkinsville (M & F) College. Opened in 1900, the 

institution has offered religious training and business instruction to 

Negroes throughout Western Kentucky. A non-accredited, church-supported 

school, it has operated as the Hopkinsville College of the Bible since 

1965. Enrollment has ranged between forty and sixty in recent years. 

The Hopkinsville Community College is the fourth college included 

in this study. Established in 1965 as the "Centennial College" of the 

University of Kentucky, this institution, with a current enrollment of 

over seven hundred students, offers two-year transfer programs along with 

two-year technical programs. A part of the Community College System, the 

local school fills a great need in the community. 

All of these colleges have fostered and kept alive educational 

sentiment through eras of peace and plenty, war and social turmoil, and 

through the efforts of men and women for nearly a century and a quarter, 

students have been afforded, through higher education, the opportunity 

to better themselves and those around them. In truth, these four 



institutions have made and continue to make a fine contribution to the 

educational process and to society. 
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Chapter I 

INTRODUCTION 

The writing of "The History of Higher Education in Hopkinsville, 

Kentucky, 1849 to the Present" was developed only after the writer had 

given due consideration as to its possible value. It seems reasonable 

that a fairly comprehensive resume of local higher education might be of 

value to future historians and educators in the Pennyroyal region of 

Kentucky. The basic factors that have governed the progress and develop­

ment of college level education in Hopkinsville may be of value in the 

construction of future educational programs throughout the area. 

In the preparation of this thesis no claim is made to historical 

priority, as in 1884, William H. Perrin, of Louisville, was the author of 

the first History of Christian County, Kentucky. Predominantly political 

and biographical, this volume touched upon local college history only in 

a minor fashion. In 1930 Charles M. Meacham of Hopkinsville published 

the second History of Christian County, Kentucky, but his treatment of 

the subject is very general. 

It is an accepted fact that the mental training of people w1ll 

exert great influence upon the future development of the corrnnunity and 

the nation . Hence, no county history could be complete without a 

comprehensive review of its higher educational offerings. 

It is the purpose of the writer to assemble all available data 

on the_ development of the four colleges in Hopkinsville. The origin and 

development of the schools, that have existed or now exist, have been 

1 



traced as far as existing records would allow. Legislation and other 

outside influences that have affected these colleges also have been 

investigated and surveyed. 

This study has been made with the belief that a permanent record 

2 

of the efforts and achievements of these colleges have some value. Through 

comparison of this record with future efforts and achievements, it will be 

possible to detennine the progress of higher education in Hopkinsville. A 

true test of real progress is the measurement of achievements of similar 

institutions within the same geographic area. 

Convinced that there are natural and logical reasons for division, 

the writer has separated the general subject into four sections, each 

dealing with a different institution. South Kentucky College, the first 

of the four, was organized by the Christian Churches of the area in 1849 

as a girl's finishing school. The school became coeducational in 1881 and 

continued to operate until its merger with Transylvania College in 1914. 

In 1908, the name of the school was changed to McLean Colle~e and it 

operated under that name for six years. 

In 1854, the area Baptist Churches established Bethel Female High 

School, another finishing school for young ladies. After bearing the 

names Bethel Female College and Bethel Woman's College, the institution 

became coeducational in 1951 and assumed the name Bethel College. The 

school operated until adverse financial conditions forced it to close in 

1964. 

The third local college established was Hopkinsville (M & F) 

College, created by the First District Colored Baptist Association in 

1883. A non-accredited, church-supported school, it has operated since 

1965 under the name of Hopkinsville College of the Bible. 
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The University of Kentucky in 1965 opened its "Centenni a 1 Co 11 ege," 

t he Hopkinsville Community College, one of thirteen schools located acros s 

the Commonwealth of Kentucky . This institution continues the tradition 

that has existed over 124 years of local higher education. 

The writer maintains a strong interest in the history of Hopkins­

ville and Christian County; hence, this study of local colleges is a part 

of his effort to record the past activities and events of the community. 

A number of difficulties were encountered in the study. Many 

records have been destroyed by fire, especially those of South Kentucky 

College which burned three times. Some officials failed to make proper 

records and to preserve them. Lack of uniformity in reporting information 

made it difficult to record data in a systematic fashion. 

With a full realization of its weaknesses and incompleteness, and 

hoping that future improvement will be made, the writer respectfully 

submits this study. 



Chapter II 

SOUTH KENTUCKY COLLEGE 

Fonnal education had its beginning in Christian County about 1812 

when a teacher by the name of Daniel Barry opened a private elementary 

school on N_ashville (now Ninth) Street. A small tuition was levied and 

though cash was scarce and the number of students was small, the school 

was conducted for several years. By the act of the General Assembly, the 

Christian Academy was established in Hopkinsville in January, 1817. James 

D. Rumsey was the first headmaster and this secondary school operated in a 

brick schoolhouse on the site of the Louisville and Nashville freight depot 

on East Ninth Street. The building was destroyed by fire during the War 

Between the States. The subjects administered to the young men of that era 

included Latin, Greek, surveying, geometry, science, and basic English. 

The famous high school, long operated by Major J. 0. Ferrell on West 13th 

Street, was an outgrowth of the Old Christian Academy. 

Higher education, both church and state supported, has had a 

lasting and prominent effect on the community. This chapter considers one 

such institution--South Kentucky College, established in 1849. Thus, the 

community reflects 124 years of college influence. 1 

In 1849, when in this middle country, schools and teachers were 
So~ (\:~.,rol;nca. 

scarce, and education was considered a costly luxury, a I.lit 9ii.ia preacher, 

*John M. Barnes, organized a day school on the first floor of the Ninth 

Street Christian Church. A tuition fee was taken from those who were 

1Kentucky New Era, September 10, 1965. 

+ Johll\ M~ l<e.e ... 60->r~Q..S - a.. s: u..t-l,,. Co...ro 1; (/\(1 !AO.t"-~lf'L-, ke. C!..G..-w-€.. ti, 

11
0 io~;I-\Sv;\l-e. f.~ frtu.i.kl,11\ ~lleje. {Teu"'.) l»--ke..rQ.. he.. W6-S "--hl.elA-l+-1 n o > ~e~ben 
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willing to pay , but t he only qualifi cation fo r matricul ation insi sted upon 

a will i ngness to be advanced beyond the "three R's. 112 

On February 24, 1849, the General Assembly enacted articles of 

incorporation creating South Kentucky Institute. The Board of Trustees 

consisted of John M. Bar·nes, Henry J. Stites, Benjamin S. Campbell, John 

B. Knight, William V. Bernard, Robert L. Waddill, Jacob Torian, Jr., 

Isaac H. Caldwell, and William A. Edwards. 

In accordance with this act, South Kentucky Institute was opened 

for pupils (girls of all ages up to and including those in courses of 

Languages and Music) in the autumn of 1849 with John M. Barnes as Presi­

dent. Mr. Barnes died in 1850 and was succeeded by Enos Campbell, who 

preached at the Christian Church in addition to his college duties. The 

school at the Christian Church grew rapidly, and after a few years, many 

more than its capacity sought entrance at the beginning of each session. 

The institution grew to such proportions that it became necessary to 

erect new buildings for the acconmodation of pupils. Soon sites, plans, 

and names were under consideration. Agents were employed by the board 

to solicit donations for this purpose. Their appeals met with liberal 

response from the friends of the college. 3 

East of the town and somewhat less than a mile away rose a 

beautiful wooded height known as Belmont Grove, the abrupt terminus of 

a watershed ridge between two streams which skirt the town, one on each 

side. Here some thoughtful person saw an ideal location for the college 

to be built on the hill. The trustees accordingly purchased the summit 

2McLean College Yearboo k, The 1913 Arrow. 

3william Henry Perr in, Histor of Christian Count, Kentuc k • 
(Louisvi l le , Ke ntucky: F. A. Ba t tey Publishing Company, 1884 , p. 253 . 



of the hill consisting of eight acres from Montgomery D. Davie on 

September 7, 1858. Cost of the campus was $1,911.50. In later years 

additional land was ~ecured bringing the campus acreage to twelve. 4 

In the fall and winter of 1858, an imposing three-story brick 

building was erected at a cost of $30,000. It contained classrooms, 

dormitory rooms, parlor, library, chapel, and dining room. Built in 

the Greek Revival style of the period, the building had a frontage of 

over 100 feet. A recess in the middle made a broad and roomy porch in 

which stood two Corinthian columns reaching to the top of the building. 

Brick was used in the construction of these columns with a coating of 

plaster applied to the surface. In the early years at this location the 

college was variously known as Belmont Seminary, Belle Monte College, 

and South Kentucky Institute. 5 

In the fall of 1859, Isaac T. Reneau, of Elkton, wrote Enos 

Campbell in order to arrange for his daughter to enter South Kentucky 

Institute. Campbell replied, enclosing the school's schedule of fees 

and regulations. The schedule showed the tenth scholastic year 

would open the first Monday in September. The school endeavored to 

secure for the young ladies who were its pupils: first, good physical 

health; second, an extended course of study in scientific and polite 

literature; third, the power to think wisely, act promptly, and feel 

tenderly; fourth, good manners; fifth, knowledge to fear God and keep 

his commandments; sixth, happiness, through the development of kindly 

social affections. 

4christian County Court Clerk Records, Deed Book 40, p. 12. 

5Hopkinsville Kentuckian, February 26, 1884. 

6 



The boarding bill was $62.50 for the first half-year, and tuition 

fees ranged from $5 to $20. Total cost for the year would probably range 

up to $200, but while the tuition fee was taken from those who could pay, 

scholarships and work grants were arranged for those who could not pay. 

7 

Margaret Reneau became a student at South Kentucky Institute, 

apparently beginning in 1860, and for the next year a good picture of 

life "on the hill" is gained from her letters to her father. Her January 

report card showed Margaret was taking courses in chemistry, geology, 

meteorology, analysis of English languages and classics, grammar, compo­

sition, ancient history, modern geography, geometry, algebra, reading, 

writing, spelling, analysis of vocal music, Latin, French, and drawing. 

In addition to these, she was graded on embroidery, plain sewing, neat­

ness, conduct, health, and attendance. Some of these classes must have 

been combined, but even so, there was an abundance of academic work to 

be done. 

Margaret found time for other things, in addition to her studies, 

as a part of the college life in the 1860's. She was given a Sunday 

School class to teach at the Christian Church. Margaret wrote, "The 

school still increases, notwithstanding the political excitement that is 

abroad in the land. I believe that the general opinion is, that we shall 

have war. 11 War did come, and, in May, 1861, Margaret wrote, 11 A regiment 

will leave Clarksville in the morning for the South, many of whom are boys 

from Hopkinsville. I see both the infantry and cavalry practicing nearly 

every day. The infantry sometimes march up to the college and go through 

the motions of fighting in the yard. Most schools have stopped, but not 

old Belle Mont. 116 

6J. Brooks Major, "The Gleaner" (unpublished quarterly, 1964). 



With a boarding department established in the school, successful 

operation was continued until the spring of 1862, when it suspended 

operation for a year. During that time, Hopkinsville was occupied by 

military forces and for several weeks, the college building was used as a 

Confederate hospital. The school was reopened in September, 1863, with 

Enos Campbell still president. He resigned in 1865, and was succeeded 

8 

by his brother, James C. Campbell, who served two years. J. W. Goss 

became President of S. K. I. in 1867, and during his tenure, which lasted 

until 1871, the general stability of the college regained its former 

't 7 prosper, y. 

The decade of the 1870 1 s began with T. A. Crenshaw as President 

who remained in that office for six years. He also served as pastor of 

the Christian Church, as Campbell and Barnes had done. 

Robert C. Cave became President in 1876, and served until 1882. 

He was born in Orange County, Virginia, in 1843, and was educated under 

Alexander Campbell at Bethany College. In 1876, t~ere were five teachers 

f h . d 8 and 115 students, about average or t e per,o . 

During Cave's admini~tration, the trustees became convinced that 

the original plan for the conduct of the institution could not meet the 

needs of the young people of south Kentucky. They recognized the demand 

for a college of a higher grade, which would serve the sons as well as 

the daughters of the area. The trustees decided on November 24, 1879, to 

make a change. They determined to offer its educational advantages to 

7 · · t 154 Perrin, op . c, . , P. • 

8Kentucky New Era, June 14, 1882. 



both sexes. The charter was amended in 1880 and the name changed to 

South Kentucky College.9 

The college opened the first Monday in September, 1881, as a 

coeducational institution with the addition of normal and commercial 

courses. The following courses were offered: English, Literature, 

Philosophy, Logic, Mathematics, Mechanics, Astronomy, Physiology, 

International and Commercial Law, Music, Drawing, Painting, and Normal 

Instruction. The last named area proved to be an important contribu­

tion as many of the area teachers availed themselves of the opportunity 

of continuing their education in order to achieve higher certification. 

In 1881, the school had 121 students, fifty-two of whom were boys. 

That year, McCarty Hall, a boy's donnitory, was built on the northern 

edge of the campus on Seventh Street. This building was torn down in 

the early summer of 1971. B. C. Deweese served as President of the 
. 10 

school during the term, 1883-1884. 

Tuition in 1884 was $25 in the Collegiate Department; $20 in 

the Preparatory Department; and $15 in the Primary Department. Cost 

of room and board was $60 per term. 11 

In 1884, the military department was inaugurated at the school. 

The boys were required to purchase a uniform and cap of West Point Cadet 

gray for $17.50. The officers wore regulation chevrons. A period of 

forty-five minutes each day was occupied in drill and the winner of each 

9Kentucky New Era, March 16, 1880. 

lOlbid., March 10, 1884. 

11Hopkinsville Kentuckian, loc. cit. 

9 



week's dr il l wo re a gold medal. The daily routine began at 6:30 with 

inspection before breakfast. Chapel attendance was required every day 

and classes were held from 9 until 12 o'clock. Classes, drill, and 

recreation were held in the afternoon. Study and recreation were pre­

scribed after supper and "Taps" was sounded at 10:00 P.M. The military 

department was continued in operation until one year before the school 

closed. 12 

Major Samuel R. Crumbaugh was elected President of South Ken­

tucky College on the first of January, 1884, for a term of ten years. 

A native of Logan County, Kentucky, Major Crumbaugh graduated from the 

U. S. Naval Academy in 1868. He studied law at the University of 

Kentucky and held a post-graduate degree from the Royal Institute in 

London. "The Major," as he was called, taught , in several colleges 

before coming to South Kentucky College in 1880. He taught mathematics 

at the college before his election as President. 13 

10 

On Sunday afternoon, February 24, 1884, the rapid intonations 

of the town fire bell caused the people to rush to their doors, and, 

behold, South Kentucky College was enveloped in flames. In an hour and 1 

a half the work of destruction was done. The $13,000 loss was covered ! 

by $9,000 insurance. The school was suspended until fall, but the 

trustees voted the following day to rebuild. 14 

The brick walls were not severely damaged and so work was begun 

immediately to rebuild the college. By July 1, 1884, the new building 

12south Kentucky College Catalog, 1904. 

13Major, lac. cit. 
14Hopkinsville Kentuckian, lac. cit. 



was completed. The structure had a frontage of 108 feet, three stories 

high , the third story situated under a mansard roof. A panoramic view 

of the surrounding community could be observed from the 100-foot tower 

on the left front of the building. The college reopened in the fall 

with the largest enrollment in its history. Major Crumbaugh resigned 

11 

as President in 1885, but continued as professor. James E. Scobey, M.A., 

was chosen as his successor and served until the summer of 1890 . 15 

Professor Alexander Campbell Kuykendall was elected President of 

South Kentucky College in 1890. The presidency, during this period, was 

somewhat diminished in scope and authority, and became more of a purely 

administrative post. The positions of importance in the early 1890's 

included Principal of the Male and Female Departments and business agent 

for the college. Professor Kuykendall held the first position, Professor 

H. Clay Smith, the second, and J. W. Hardy, the position of business 

agent. Professor Kuykendall resigned as President in 1893, and Mr. J. W. 

Hardy became President. He in turn was succeeded by Mr. S.S. Woolwine 

in 1897. Professor Kuykendall assumed the presidency again in 1898 and 

served in this capacity throughout the remaining life of the college. 16 

Many extracurricular activities were added in the late 1890's. A 

football team, called "the Maroons," was organized as was a girls' basket­

ball team. The twenty-five or thirty boarding girls, who envied the 

freedom of the day students, wore school uniforms and were subject to the 

strict discipline, but kindly manner, of Professor H. Clay Smith . Professor 

Kuykendall administered the same atmosphere with the boys in McCarty Hall. 

15Hopkinsville Kentuckian, November 5, 1905. 

16Major, loc. cit. 



Organized sports shared the spotlight with two literary societies. Com­

me ncement exercises were held in Holland's Opera House on Main Street.17 

The lack of records in regard to South Kentucky College because 

of the disastrous fires made it rather difficult to determine the number 

of graduates through the years. This same problem existed in trying to 

locate names of the graduates for any given year. It is judged from 

available records that the average number of graduates in the last thirty 

years of the college ranged from four to fifteen each year.18 

A review of the 1904 catalog gives a clear and interesting 

picture of the life and times of South Kentucky College. There were 165 

students enrolled that year, of whom 68 were girls. Boarding students 

made up about half of this total number; the others were called "day 

students." A number of tuition scholarships were given in the amount of 

$1,000 and named for the donor. 19 

It is from some of these students that many interesting incidents 

have been related. Surveying was offered as a part of a mathematics 

course to young ladies. One day as the class was being instructed in the 

use of the surveying equipment, it was noted that the magnetic needle on 

the compass in the transit was fluctuating wildly. Professor Kuykendall 

instructed one of the young ladies to move away from the transit as it 

was determined that the metal staves in her "foundation garment" were 

causing the trouble. A favorite prank of the boys was to set traps in 

McCarty Hall to catch the rats that also inhabited the dormitory . After 

dark, the boys with their captives would climb the hill to the girls' 

17Major, lac. cit. 

18Kentucky New Era, June 6, 1901. 

19south Kentucky College Catalog, 1904. 



donnitory. After scal i ng the supporting posts of the front porch, the 

windows of the girls' rooms would then be raised by the boys just enough 

to turn the rats loose. One can imagine the chaos that occurred. It 

was on such occasions that the bright blue eyes of Professor H. Clay 

Smith would turn into a deep shade of moss green.20 

A number of college organizations provided varied activities for 

the students. They included a Young Men's Christian Association, Philo­

mathean Society, Junior Debating Team, Orchestra, and "The S.K.C. Bugle," 

a weekly school paper. The athletic program consisted of the S.K.C. 

Baseball Team, basketball, tennis, and a very lively football team. 

13 

Great rivalry developed between these teams and the teams of such schools 

as Bethel College at Russellville, Southwestern Presbyterian University 

at Clarksville, Ogden College at Bowling Green, and the Vanderbilt 

Training School at Elkton. 21 

The era of the greatest prosperity for the college began a decline 

on Th~rsday, November 2, 1905. At eleven o'clock that morning, the main 

building was discovered to be on fire in the garret, under the metal 

roof. With water pressure on the hill inadequate, it was soon realized 

that the college would be destroyed. Through the heroic effort of the 

fire company, the two rear wings were saved . The college reopened a few 

. h . 22 days later by conducting classes 1n t ese wings . 

A few days after the fire, the announcement was made that Mr. 

James R. Rash, of Earlington, had presented an endowed gift of $10,000 to 

1971. 
20Miss Georgie P. Willis, Age 85, Personal Interview, February 18, 

21south Kentucky College Catalog, 1904. 

2ZHopki nsvi lle Kentuckian, November 5, 1905 . 
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the college. This mo ney was used i n the reconstruction of the main bu i ld­

ing. The new structure was occupied six months later. Through other 

donati ons, a two-story brick dormitory for girls was erected on the south 

si de of the main building in 1906.23 

On July 6, 1908, the trustees announced that the name of South 

Kentucky College was being changed. It was resolved by the trustees, the 

alumni concurring in their action, to name the institution McLean College, 

in honor of Archibald McLean, President of the Foreign Christian Mission­

ary Society and formerly President of Bethany College. 

The reasons for the change were as follows: It was felt that the 

state-supported institutions should have sole use of the state name, which 

was not exactly suited to an institution of private character. The old 

name made no appeal to any save those who were citizens of southern 

Kentucky, and it proved a handicap when the business agents went beyond 

the vicinity soliciting students. The name McLean was distinctive and 

widely known. It was of positive business value as the contributors to 

the college were well aware of the educational related contribution of 

Archibald McLean. 24 

A third destructive fire hit the college on Friday night, Febru-

ary 1, 1912. The main building and all its contents were destroyed at a 

loss of $20,000, of which $7,000 was covered by insurance. The trustees 

met the next day and decided upon plans for financial arrangements to 

rebuild the main structure . Classes were reopened within a few days, and 

by submitting to some hardships, the session was continued to the end.
25 

23 J w· ks Age 77 Personal Interview, March 16, 1971. Mrs . Lena . 1c , , 

24Hopki nsvil l e Kentuckian, July 6, 1908. 

25Kentucky New Era, February 6, 1912 . 
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On May 24, 1912, the trustees of Mclean College met and let the 

contract for the rebuilding of Rash Memorial Hall at a price of $29,000. 

Work was begun and the new structure was occupied in the middle of Septem­

ber. One hundred sixty boarding students were enrolled. 26 

The rebuilding was accomplished by stretching the resources and 

credit of both the college and the supporting Christian Churches to the 

limit. The college could have recovered from even this third fire, but 

it could not recover from the additional financial strain imposed on it 

by the decreased enrollment and lack of confidence expressed by its 

patrons in the following year. 

During the su1T1Tier of 1913, a considerable number of pupils who 

had been in the boarding department of the college durtng the past school 

year were stricken with typhoid fever. Despite the fact that an examina­

tion into the conditions at the college by health officers and physicians 

failed to discover any signs of a source of the disease there, fearful 

parents kept a majority of the pupils at home. The enrollment for the 

school year, 1913-1914, was greatly decreased and not large enough to pay 

expenses. This proved to be the final blow; the trustees did not have 

and could not obtain additional money to operate the college. 27 

On October 27, 1913, Harry D. Smith presented to the Executive 

Committee of Transylvania College, Lexington, a memorandum of a proposi­

tion offered by the McLean College Board of Trustees. It offered to 

transfer to Transylvania the property, subject to legal claims, and 

loyalty of McLean College. The Transylvania curators were to assume 

26McLean College Yearbook, lac. cit. 

27 ·t Major, l oc . c 1 • 



McLean's lega l obl igations , and to perpetuate the memorials establi shed 

at McLean , as we l l as to assume obligations relative to annuity notes. 

Transylvania College agreed "in the main" to accept the McLean 

proposition on November 29, 1913. On January 21, 1914, the contract was 

drawn up. Students of the college were given the opportunity to transfer 

to the Transylvania campus to complete the academic year without any 

additional expense. Professor Kuykendall moved to Lexington to become 

the legal representative of the McLean students. 

Transylvania rejected an offer of $20,000 and the old Clay Street 

School lot from the City of Hopkinsville for the main buildings, but 

finally settled for $22,500 plus the Clay Street property, valued at 

$7,500. The McLean property was deeded to the City of Hopkinsville on 

January 15, 1916. 

Transylvania paid out $52,577.93 in assuming McLean's obligations, 

and received $24,475.15 in lots, stock, etc., plus $30,000 less $500 com­

mission, for the main buildings, making a total received of $53,975. 28 

Thus ended sixty-five years of Christian higher education in 

Hopkinsville, sponsored by the Christian Churches of the area. 



Chapter III 

BETHEL COLLEGE 

In the spring of 1854, the Bethel Baptist Association established 

Bethel Female High School and appointed the following men as members of 

the first Board of Trustees: Chairman John Pearce Campbell, Thomas M. 

Buck, John Buckner, Hiram A. Phelps, Joseph M. Cheany, Dr. Augustine 

Webber, A. G. Slaughter, Robert Dillard, and E. B. Richardson. 1 

No school developed a finer heritage or held a stronger claim to 

outstanding founders than Bethel Female High School. The desire of far­

seeing, God-fearing Baptists 11 to establish a permanent institution, sec­

ond to none in the land, where the Baptist girls of the country might have 

cheap board and tuition, but the finest of training in Christian virtues 

and the fine arts, 11 culminated in 1854, when the Board of Trustees secured 

a charter for the school. 2 Minutes of the Association of 1854 record that 

the board had bought seven acres of ground on the southwestern edge of 

town for $2,000 and over $5,000 had been collected for building purposes.
3 

In the summer, the trustees had erected a log building to serve 

the needs of the school until the planned building could be completed. 

The original enrollment figure is not known, but it was from this 

pioneer effort that Miss Lucy Anne Coleman (later Mrs . George V. Campbell) 

1Perrin, op. cit., p. 256 . 

2shelia Higgins (ed.), Bethel College Yearbook, The Scroll, 1932, 

p. 6. 

3 h l College, 11 (Unpublished, 1944), p. 9. 
A O 

11 H1·story of Bet e n n., 
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recei ved a diploma on June 21, 1855, thus becoming the first graduate. 

He r diploma was signed by the first president, L. D. Ring, and also by 

the members of the Board of Trustees.4 

The Board appointed by the Bethel Baptist Association to govern 

the affairs of the school met for the first time on April 24, 1854, and 

asked Major N. B. Kelley to draw building plans to be presented at the 

next meeting. 

The board executed the following contract on September 18, 1854: 

The President and Secretary of the Board enter 
into a contract for the building of a school house with 
R. L. Torian, S. L. Salter, and John Orr; said building 
to cost the sum of $20,000, to be 80 by 50 feet, and 
four stories high including basement and to be completed 
in two years from the 1st of January, 1855.5 

18 

Contractors began work on the foundation, and the cornerstone was 

laid with Masonic ceremonies on April 7, 1855. The building was partially 

completed in the fall of 1856 when it was opened for use. 6 The Board 

officially accepted the building on March 6, 1857. Total cost was about 

7 $30,000. 

The first chairman of the Board of Trustees was Captain John P. 

Campbell, Sr., a true Christian gentleman, who may be justly recognized 

as a living monument to Bethel 1s beginning. His dreams for the college 

were expressed by the following incident: Soon after the main building 

was completed, he rode up to the college gate one morning and remarked: 

4Bethel Scrapbook, "Origin of Bethel College." 

511 History of Bethel College," loc . cit. 

6Higgins, loc. cit. 

?Minutes of the Bethel College Board of Trustees, March 6, 1857. 



pointing to the buildi ng, "Tha t is only the center; two wings must be 

added. 118 

From 1856 to 1917, the policy of the trustees was to lease the 

school to the president and give him the freedom to conduct it as a 

private enterprise. He paid the Board a yearly rent and was fairly 

successful because financial support came from tuition. It was under 

this policy that Dr. W. F. Hill became president of the high school in 

1856. He held the position for one session.9 

The curriculum during this period was similar to that of the 

"best female seminaries in the South and the West, including School of 

Language, ancient and modern; School of Mathematics, pure and mixed; 

School of English, embracing mental and moral sciences and belles­

lettres; School of Natural Science; and School of Fine Arts. 1110 

In those good old days the tuition and expenses were light, as 

these figures will show: 11 Price of tuition for session for primary 

department, ten dollars per session; for junior classes, five dollars; 

and for senior classes, twenty dollars and with board and washing, 

fifty-five dollars per session for five months." 11 

The Bethel girls of the late 1850's had certai~ regulations to 

meet. They were not to leave the premises at any time unattended by a 

member of the faculty. Unpermitted visits, party going, or the act of 

t t · · gentlemen, either going to or from church or school, en er a1n1ng young 

8Higgins, loc. cit. 

9Ibid., p. 14. 

lO ibi d. 

11 Ibid . 
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was strict ly proh i bi ted. The Magnolia, a literary paper, published by 

t he Bethel gi rls i n September, 1859, stated 11 it was also highly improper 

for young ladies to station themselves around a door of a church for the 

purpose of staring modest young gentlemen out of their wits as they 

entered the house of worship. 11 12 

The wearing of modest clothes was stressed. In spring and summer, 

the girls wore dresses of pink, blue, and white, and straw bonnets trimmed 

with pink ribbons. In the fall and winter, they wore dresses of maroon 

and blue, with bonnets trimmed in crimson ribbon. 13 

In 1857, Jacob Ward Rust, principal of the Lafayette Academy, 

became the third president of Bethel Female High School. During the next 

several years, enrollment increased to 55 students and the school pros­

pered during the turbulent days prior to the War Between the States. 

The school charter was amended in 1858 and the name changed to 

Bethel Female College. The number of board members had increased to 15 in 

1859. They were: Chairman Captain John P. Campbell, Hiram A. Phelps, 

John C. Latham, Sr., Elder A. D. Sears, Louis L. Leavell, Dr. S. D. Buck, 

Alpheus Palmer, Dr. N. Conn, Major Charles M. Tandy, Col. J. F. Buckner, 

Col. Gano Henry, R. T. Petree, Elder R. W. Nixon, E. J. Fort, and Elder 

S. A. Holland. 14 

The 1860 1 s dawned at Bethel with J. W. Rust as the President. 

Tuition was still $55 per session, including fuel, lights, and laundry. 15 

12The Magnolia, [Bethel College Newspaper], September, 1859. 

13 Ibi d. 

14 Ibid. 

15 .. His to ry of Bethel College, .. op. cit . , p. 16. 



The young college on the southwestern edge of town did not escape 

the great conflict. In Nave b d mer an December of 1861, the basement rooms 

were used to provide scant hospital care for sick and dying Confederate 

soldiers. They were part of several companies of men then quartered on 

the northern edge of Hopkinsville in Glass Woods and along Little River 

21 

on the present south side of Riverside Cemetery. A severe epidemic of 

black measles and pneumonia had spread among the southern soldiers who had 

come without the proper clothing for a Christian County winter. Over one 

hundred troops died in Hopkinsville that season. The ones who lived 

fought at Fort Donelson the next February.16 

Enrollment dropped heavily during the 1862-1863 school year. In 

August, 1863, Dr. Rust resigned to become the President of Bethel College 

(for young men) at Russellville. Early in the month a company of Union 

soldiers arrived in Hopkinsville and took up residence in the vacated 

college building. While there they gave a party for the town's young 

people that developed into a dance. 

On August 17, 1863, the Board gave the following resolution: 

Whereas the building of the Bethel Female College 
has recently been used by the milita~y for the purpose ?f 
having a public dance, therefore be 1t resolved that said 
use and occupation was without consent of the T~us!ees, 
and we hereby protest against the use of7the bu1ld1ng for 
such purpose at any time in the future. 

As Christian County did not lie along the immediate route of either 

army and was altogether unimportant from a strategic point of view, there 

was no outstanding conflict in the area. The college, therefore, was spared 

After the soldiers evacuated the building, the Waller wartime depredation. 

16Joe Mccarroll, Age 79, Personal Interview, April 24, 1966. 

l7Higgins, lac. cit. 



fami ly moved into the colle t ge o prevent future occupation by the 

military; thereby giving it the nature of . t d 11 . 18 
a pr1va e we 1ng. 

In March, 1864, Bethel reopened with a new president, Dr. Thomas 

G. Keen, paS tor of the Baptist Church. One of the great preachers of his 

day, Dr. Keen was educated at Madison University and was ordained into 

the ministry in 1840. Dr. Keen, an extremely conscientious man, made a 

good president, and the college continued to prosper during his 
.. t t" 19 adm1n1 s ra , on. 

The minutes of the Board record that Dr. Keen resigned in June, 

1866, as he wished to devote his entire time to the ministry. M. G. 

Alexander was elected to succeed Dr. Keen, and he accepted the presi­

dency with the same provisions as his predecessors. The Board held him 

responsible for all damage done to the property, and the president was 
20 

not to pennit "the front yard to be grazed by stock of any kind." 

The college at this time was in a flourishing condition, having 

from 70 to 90 students. As the result of some difficulty, President 

Alexander resigned and was succeeded by John F. Dagg in July, 1868. The 

tuition increased to $80 per session, but the steady enrollment continued. 

There were, on the average, about eighty pupils during the six years of 

I d . . t t. 21 President Daggs a m1n1s ra 10n. 

Approximately four diplomas were issued by President Dagg each 

year. The reason for this small number was that many pupils attended 

only one session. 

18Higgins, lac. cit. 

19 f B th l College," loc. cit. "History o e e 
20 "d 18 lbl ., p. . 

21 Ibid., p. 19. 



President Dagg resigned in 1874 because of his advanced age. He 

was highly praised for the work done dur,·ng h,·s 1 d 
1 

22 ea ership of the col ege. 

In July, 1874 , Jacob Ward Rust accepted Bethel's leadership for 

the second time. The Board spent $500 for repair on the building and gave 

him complete control of the school. 

During Dr. Rust's sixteen-year administration, the enrollment 

ranged from 75 to 100 pupils, and there were from 5 to 10 graduates each 

year.
23 

The course of study was offered through five departments: Fine 

Arts, Language, Mathematics, English, and Natural Science.24 

In 1884, a number of new names were to be found among the list of 

the Board of Trustees, including: Chairman Rev. J. M. Peay, Secretary 

Hiram A. Phelps, W. W. Ware, John M. Mills, Samuel G. Buckner, Hon. John 

P. Campbell, Dr. James Rodman, Stephen E. Trice, and John C. Latham, Sr. 25 

The Rust Family is indelibly written into the history of the 

college as is revealed by the list of faculty members of 1884: J. W. Rust, 

Mrs. Martha G. Rust, J. 0. Rust, Miss Nannie Rust, Miss Clara Anderson, 

Miss Cynta Wesfall, Mrs. John F. Dagg, and Miss Carrie Breathitt.
26 

The Board of Trustees in 1888 consisted of Stephen E. Trice as 

Chairman, Judge R. T. Petree, Rev. J. M. Peay, W.W. Ware, S. G. Buckner, 

'd Dr. James Rodman, Dr. John _D. Clardy, and Rev. Rev. John N. Prestr, ge, 

J. T. Barrow. 27 

22Bethel College Catalog, 1875. 

23"History of Bethel College," op. cit., p. 20. 

24Perrin, loc. cit. 

25Bethel Female College Catalog, 1884 

26 C l l ge 11 1 oc. cit. "History of Bethel o e ' 

27sethel Female Col l ege Catalog, 1888. 



On June 8' 1890 • Dr. Rust died after having served faithfully as 
head of the co l lege for a total of 21 28 

years. A few days after the 

death of Dr. Rust , t he college announced that through the request of the 

school • the Legislature of Kentucky had amended the Bethel Charter with 

the right to confer degrees.29 

The office of president remained vacant until January, 1891, when 

Rev. T. Simpson McCall accepted the position. He paid the Board a yearly 

rental and assumed complete control of the College. By the opening of 

school, the building had been repaired and redecorated at a cost of 

$9,000. 30 

During the 1890 1s, the enrollment ranged between 50 and 60 pupils 

with an average of five graduates each year. In 1892, the Board consisted 

of: Chairman Rev. Charles H. Nash, Secretary Judge R. T. Petree, W.W. 

Ware, Stephen E. Trice, Samuel G. Buckner, Dr. James Rodman, Dr. John D. 

Clardy, E. M. Flack, Judge John F. Lockett, and Lyman McComb. 31 

In 1896, the College was authorized to confer the Bachelor of Arts, 

the Master of Languages, and the Master of Arts degrees. In June of that 

year, Rev. McCall resigned and was succeeded by Rev. Edmund Harrison, a 

native of Virginia. Dr. Harrison held the Master's degree from the 

University of Virginia and came to Bethel from Richmond College where he 

was professor of Latin. Georgetown College conferred the LL.D. degree 

upon him in 1904. 32 

28Norman w. Cox (ed.), Encyclopedia of Southern Baptists, 
(Nashville : Broadman Press, 1952 ), Vol. 2• p. 1178 · 

29Bethel Female College Catalog, 1892. 

30"History of Bethel College," op. cit., p. 24. 

31Bethel Female College Catala[, loc. cit . 

32 l C 11 ge "op. cit., p. 25. "History of Bethe O e ' 
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During Dr. Harrison' s presidency at Bethel, the standards of the 

college were raised, the patronage increased, and its welfare promoted. 

He was high ly respected both as an admin istrator and as a teacher. 33 

In 1897, the enrollment had reached alrrost 100 students, while 

the following year, there were 37 boarding and 64 day pupils. The college 

could accommodate 60 girls. The building was wired for electricity, run­

ning water and bathrooms were installed. Prior to that time, a large 

cistern had supplied water for the college . 

An annex, including art and music rooms and a gymnasium, was built 

on the east side of the main building at a cost of $1,200 in 1899. 34 Con­

structed of brick, the three-story annex was used until 1920 when the east 

dormitory was built. 

Enrollment continued to increase in 1899 with 69 students in the 

literary department, 43 piano students, 14 art students, 9 in elocution, 

. and 48 in physical culture. 35 

The enrollment had risen to 109 students in 1902 when two gradu­

ates received the Master of Arts degree. "During the remaining years of 

President Harrison's administration, reports of Bethel Female College we re 

favorable . . Scholastic standards were raised by requiring one more year of 

English for the Bachelor of Arts degree, and requiring calculus for the 

36 Master of Arts degree." 

Regulations had changed considerably through the years, and, in 

required to wear on publ _ic occasions a 1903, the young ladies were 

33"History of Bethel College," loc. cit. 

34Bethel College Catalog, 1899. 

3 51 bi d . , 1900 . 
36 II c,•t p 26 . 

1 Co 11 ege , op· · ' · "History of Bethe 
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Prescribed unifonn , the obJ'ect b · This e1ng to discourage extravagance. 
uniform consisted of a dark blue cloths ·t 'th O f d f · u, w, x or cap or w, nter, and 
an expensive white waist and dark skirt with a straw hat for spring. 37 

The 1904 catalog listed the following men on the Board of Trustees: 

Chairman Rev. Charles H. Nash, Secretary and Treasurer James H. Anderson, 

Philander B. Pendleton, Dr. T. W. Blakey, Dr. John D. Clardy, G. H. Stowe, 

Lyman McComb, J. F. Garnett, William T. Tandy, and Frank Walton. 38 

On Thursday night, December 6, 1907, Hopkinsville was besieged by 

the Night Riders, a band of farmers who were discontented with the prices 

they were receiving for dark tobacco. The band took the law into their 

own hands, and in the morning hours of December 7, they burned two 

tobacco warehouses filled with tobacco being sold through the American 

Tobacco Trust. President Harrison and the young ladies were aroused by 

the confusion and the building was soon lighted. Night Riders, who had 

gathered in the yard, called into the building for the lights to be turned 

off. Flames from across town presented an eerie sight as the girls 

gathered around the big heating stove in the main hall and waited until 
39 

the riders had left town. 

In 1908, Bethel became a member of the Baptist Educational Society 

f d t Stimulate more liberal and systematic of Kentucky which had been orme o 

, d t ' 1 program. The trustees of the college support of the churches e uca 1ona 

37Bethel Female College Catalog, 1903, 

38 I bi d . , 1904 . 

39Higgins, op. cit., P· 20 • 
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were now elected by th is society. Nominations for membership on the Board, 
however, were made by the Beth 1 B • 40 

e apt1st Association. 

Harry G. Brownell became president of Bethel in 1909. A mechanical 

engineering major, he was graduated from Rose Polytechnic in 1886 and 

received the Me.E.degree in 1911. He was very discouraged the first year 

since there were only 41 pupils and four faculty members. Within the 

following years of his administration, the enrollment increased consider­
ably.41 

The curriculum of 1910 was largely classical, but Latin and elocu­

tion were losing ground. Sociology had come into the course of studies and 

a domestic science course was offered for the first time that year. 

In order to insure the academic standing of the college, the 

president emphasized heavier requirements for admission to the school. 

These requirements were the same as those for other standard southern 

colleges. 42 

Walter Stewart Peterson served as president of Bethel from June, 

1914 to 1917. In 1916, Bethel was required to adapt itself to the junior 

college status in order to meet the educational standards currently being 

applied. That year Bethel discontinued presenting the Bachelor and the 

43 Master of Arts degrees. 

On June 4, 1917, by charter amendment, the name Bethel Female 
1 c llege The Board at College was officially changed to Bethel Womans O · 

40 1 College, 11 op. cit., p. 17. "History of Bethe 
41 Ibid., p. 29. 

42 Ibid. 
43

Ibid. 



that time consis ted of: Chai R . 
rman ev. Calvin M. Thompson, Secretary and 

Treas ure r Dr. T. W. Blakey, George E. Gary, G. H. Stowe, Charles M. 

Meacham, Clifton W. Garrott, Madison C. Forbes, R. Y. Pendleton, and 
Bailey Waller. 44 

A new policy was inaugurated in 1917, whereby the Board elected 

all teachers and was responsible for all expenditures. A new president, 

Miss Clara Belle Thompson, was elected that year. She was the only woman 

ever to hold the office of president of Bethel College. She resigned in 

the spring of 1919 after a very successful two-year administration. 45 

In August, 1919, Professor John W. Gaines, former dean of Shorter 

College, in Georgia, became president of Bethel. He received the Bachelor 

of Science and Master of Modern Philosophy degrees from Furman University. 

He later received the doctor's degree from Georgetown College. 46 

Bethel opened that fall with 55 boarding students, the largest 

number in its history. The number increased to 80 pupils in the dormi­

tories in 1920. 47 

President Gaines quickly organized a faculty conforming to the 

requirements of a standard junior college. All the teachers during this 
48 era entered into direct contract with the president instead of the board. 

With the enrollment increasing, it became necessary to add a new 

dormitory. In 1919, a three-story wing was added on the west side of the 

main building. In 1920, an east wing was completed. It was four stories 

44Bethel Woman's College Catalog, 1918. 

45 h 1 College' " op. cit., p. 31. "History of Bet e 

46 rbid., p. 32. 

4 7 Ibid. , p. 34 · 
48 rbid., p. 38 . 
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high a
nd 

contained 36 bedrooms. A fourth floor was added on the west wing 

in 1921 · Forbes Manufacturing Company was the contractor and builder for 
these additions. 49 

In 1921, enrollment grew to 98 boarding students with 69 day 

pupils. In the freshman class alone, there were enrolled 45 girls. 50 

In 1924, a building containing the dining room and auditorium was 

constructed directly behind the main hall at a cost of $30,000. The 

auditorium was entered from the great hallway, a classic feature of the 

main building with its divided stairway ascending to the third floor. The 

interior walls featured a soft shade of blue with dark red draperies at 

the six large windows. The dining room was entered through a passageway 

on the ground floor. 51 

A new generation of trustees was serving in 1925 as the following 

list includes: Chairman Charles M. Meacham, Secretary and Treasurer Bailey 

Waller, M. H. Tandy, Madison C. Forbes, G. H. Stowe, George E. Gary, Ben D. 

Hill, Clifton W. Garrott, and Dr. T. W. Blakey. 52 

In 1928, Bethel became the first junior college in Kentucky to be 
53 admitted to the Southern Association of Colleges and Schools. Numerous 

gifts were presented to the college during the Gaines years. Lights for 

the front steps to the main entrance were given by the class of 1925. 

f t t ance in 1927. In 1930, Bailey Waller gave the gate posts for the ron en r 

49 11 History of Bethel College," op. cit., p. 33 · 

50ibid., p. 35. 

51Bethel Woman's College Catalog, 1927. 

52 rbid., 1925. 

Co llege," op. cit., p. 36. 53 11 History of Bethel 



through the generous gift of Mr. and Mrs. Jo T. Howard, a swimming pool 
was completed in the basement of the main building. 54 The financial 

cond ition of the country in the early 1930's made Bethel ' s position 

acute, but by selling roortgage bonds, the school managed to continue 
. 55 operations. 

The trustees in 1936 included: Chairman S. L. Cowherd, Secretary 

and Treasurer L. D. Browning, F. H. Mason, Dr. Oscar Flener, Frank B. 

Lacy, Sr., N. F. Smith, Jo T. Howard, G. H. Stowe, Wallace Henderson, 

Holland Garnett, W. H. Southall, John T. Edmunds, and Dr. M. E. Croft. 56 

In the spring of 1940, Dr. Gaines resigned after a 21-year 

administration . He was elected President Emeritus at a meeting of the 

Board, March 7, 1940, and continued to live at the college until 1942. 57 

Kenneth R. Patterson, of Mayfield, succeeded Dr. Gaines as 

president in 1940. A native of Lebanon, Kentucky, Mr. Patterson had been 

Superintendent of Schools at Henderson, Madisonville, and Mayfield. He 

held the Bachelor of Arts degree from Georgetown College and the Master of 

Arts degree from the University of Kentucky. 58 

The inflationary period that was gripping the country in the early 

1940's forced Bethel to raise the tuition. In 1942, tuition in the regu­

lar literary course ranged between $400 and $475 ; while the amount of town 

students was $115.
59 

5411 History of Bethel College, 11 op. cit., p. 38 · 

55 rbid., p . 39 . 

56Bethel Woman's College Catalog, 1936. 

57 l College, 11 op . cit., p. 40. 
"History of Bethe 

58
Ibi d. 

59Bethel Woman's College Catalog, 1942 . 
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Ra
th

er t han face bankruptcy on a $67 ,000 debt and because of a 

reduc t ion in enrollment on account of war O d't · th 
8 

d d 'd d c n 1 1ons, e oar ec, e 
in Ju ly, 1942, to suspend operation of the college. At that time, it 

was felt that the college would reopen as soon as the war was over. 60 

By March, 1943, the buildings had been rented to the United 

States Army officers from nearby Camp Campbell for living quarters. The 

rent collected from these officers from March, 1943, until the spring of 

1945, virtually liquidated the college debt. 61 Rooms were rented for 

$10 per week and meals were served in the college dining room. Breakfast 

was served for 35¢, lunch for 50¢, and dinner for 75¢. 62 

On February 28, 1944, Mr. Patterson resigned as president of 

Bethel. From March 1, 1944, until the spring of 1945, Miss Helen Royalty 
. 63 served as manager for operations of the college buildings. 

In the spring of 1945, Dr. Powhatan W. James became president of 

Bethel Woman's College. A native of Virginia, Dr. James received the 

A.B . degree from Richmond College and the Th.M. and Th.D. degrees from 

. 1 s . 64 Southern Baptist Theolog1ca em1nary. 

Still exclusively a girls' school, Bethel reopened on September 

12, 1945.65 The buildings had been repaired and redecorated for the 

60Frank M. Masters, A History of Baptists in Kentucky, (Louisville: 
Baptist Historical Society, 1953 ), p. 539 · 

61 11 11 op cit p. 48. "History of Bethel Co ege, . . , 

62Kentucky New Era, August 26, 1942. 

63 . 
Coleman Craig, d December 15, 1949, p. 4. The Western Recor er, 

64 Bethel Woman's College Catalog, 1946. 



opening of school. A Science Buildi' 
ng was erected in 1948 because more 

classroom facilities were needed Th t . 
· es ructure contained a science 

lec ture room, a chemistry, a biology ad f d 
1 

b 66 
, n a oo s a oratory . 

Wi
th th

e opening of the 1949-1950 session, a total of 116 students 

enrolled, representing the largest number in several years. Twenty-five 

of the students were from Hopkinsville and vicinity_67 

On December 1, 1949, Bethel Woman's College was, for the second 

time, fully accredited by the Southern Association of Colleges and Schools. 

The closing of the college in 1942 had automatically taken Bethel out of 

the association. The school had been working toward re-accreditation, 

since the reopening in September, 1945. 68 

In the late 1940
1
s, one of the most impressive events in the life 

of the college took place every fall after the opening of school. The 

following is a sketch of this event: 

Time marches on! And so does Bethel. The Past 
and Present unite to fashion the future. When a noble 
Past is happily joined to a worthy Present i~ the ~oly 
and abiding bonds of love and loyalty and friendship~ 
then, indeed, is there a promise--yeah, more--there _ ,s 
a guarantee of a glorious Future--so reads the opening 
paragraph of the Friendship Ceremony. When.Bethel was 
a college for young women, one of the lo~el1est eve~t~

1 of the entire year was given at the opening oft~~ ~­
semester. It was the Friendship Ceremony. ~t t ~~ ,m~, 
the junior girls wer~ presented the key tote co ege Y 
the ladies of 1854. 6 

. retirement age, Dr. James resigned as Upon reaching the automatic 

president of Bethel in February, 1951. 70 

66Bethel College Bulletin, 1959-1960. 
E September 14 , 1949. 67Bethel College Scrapbook, Kentucky New ra, 

68 Ibid. 
College Yearbook, The Scroll, 1957. 69Anne Perr in (ed.), Bethel 

·t February 22, 1951. 70Bethe l Scrapbook, op · ci · ' 
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In Apri l , Dr . W. Edwin R' 1chardson accepted the presidency of the 
col lege, effect ive Ju ne 1 71 Beth , 

· el s 16th president came from Cumberland 
Universi ty in Lebanon, Tennessee H h ld h 

· e e t e Bachelor of Arts degree 
from Mississippi College and the Docto f Ph'l 

r o 1 osophy degree from the 

Southern BaptiS t Theological Seminary. 72 On Tuesday afternoon, November 

20, 1951, the highlight of the year's activities took place when the 

president was inaugurated. 73 

In September, 1951, Bethel Woman's College became coeducational. 

For the first time in 97 years, young men were allowed to attend regular 

classes as full-time students. 

At least two major factors figured in the decision 
to make Bethel coeducational. Along with other colleges, 
the school was experiencing a decline in enrollment, largely 
because of a slump in the number of high school graduates 
over the country. 

The other major factor was that there was no other 
Baptist college in West Kentucky. Boys who wanted to go 
to a Christian college had been going to eastern Kentucky 
or out of state. The charter was amended 7~ take care of the 
necessary changes in the college function . . 

In the fall of 1951, the Bethel College Board of Trustees and the 

Christian County Baptist Association voted to transfer ownership of the 

college to the General Association of Baptists in Kentucky. The charter 

of the college was changed accordingly. 75 The Board at that time con­

sisted of : Chairman Holland Garnett, Secretary 0. L. Griffin, Treasurer 

71Bethel Scrapbook, op . cit.' April 12, 1951. 

72 Bethel College Yearbook, The Scroll, 1954. Gloria Kirksey (ed.), 

73 cit., November 30, 1951. Bethel Scrapbook, op. 

74 Ibid ., July 18, 1951. 
75 .. A Br ief Surmiary of Bethel w. E. Richardson, 

(Unpublished). 

College History," 



34 
Fra nk H. Mason, Dr. Oscar Flene F 

r, rank H. Bassett, Jr ., H. E. Beehe, A. S. 
Koo n, Gilme r Purs ley, Rev. J . L. 

Robinson, and Pollard White . 76 
Men were warmly rece ived . 

i nto the Bethel Family as this littl e 
poem indicates: 

Bells of Bethel Chime 
In Keeping with the time· 
For school is here again~­
But this year we have men: 77 

Nine young men registered for the fall session in 1951. Six of the 

nine men were ministerial students; two were business students; and the 

other was in the associate in arts course. 

The distinction of being the first man to receive a diploma from 

Bethel College went to Jack K. Downs. He was also the first man to register 

at the college after it became coeducationa1. 78 

On February 1, 1952, Bethel College purchased the O. H. Anderson 

residence at 1515 South Main Street for conversion into a dormitory and it 

was later used as a music building. The cost of this property was $14,500 . 

On February 15, the century and a quarter-old Hiram Phelps home at 

1601 South Main Street was bought for $20,000. It was converted into a 

men 1 s dormitory and later used to house young women. Both of these homes 

were torn down in August, 1966. 

In final settlement of the estate of the late Benjamin F. Carloss, 

Bethel College received $30,000 by a bequest from the will of Mr. Carloss. 

Part of this money was applied to the debt remaining on the Phelps property . 
79 

The home was named Carloss Hall in memory of Mr. Carloss. 

76 KentL1cky New Era' October 14' 1952 . Ann Abernathy,~~:.::.:..:,_, ___ _ 

77Bethel Scrapbook, op. cit.' September 12, 1951. 

781bid., September 12, 1951 · 

79 Ibid., May 27, 1953. 
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Bethel College cel ebrated its 
100 

. 
th birthday on March 9, 1954. 

Dr. H. Franklin Paschall , pastor f th . 
0 e First Baptist Church of Bowling 

Green, was the gues t speaker at the Fou d , 
0 

80 
n er s ay program . 

Mr . Hol la nd Garnett, long member of the Bethel College Board of 

Trustees , willed the college $15,000 upon his death, March 15, 1955. 

This money was applied to the cost of the old Campbell home at 1623 South 
81 Main Street. 

In 1959, a $60,000 brick veneer gymnasium was constructed at the 

rear of the Campbell property on South Main Street. The building con­

tained a basketball court, locker and equipment rooms, and a classroom. 82 

The college began a $400,000 development program in December of 

1959. The funds collected were to provide for the construction of four 

new buildings in the greatest expansion program in the school's history. 
83 The drive did not reach its goal. 

On March 23, 1960, Dr. Richardson submitted his resignation to 

the Board of Trustees to become effective August 1. He became head of 

the department of Bible at Carson-Newman College, Jefferson City, 

Tennessee. 84 

Burton, 

college. 

The announcement was made on April 18, 1960, that William E. 

1 . 1947 had been named as president of the dean of Bethe since , 

He assumed the office on August 1, 1960. A native of Taylor 

80Bethel Scrapbook, op. cit., March 9, 1954. 

Bl Ibid., March 23, 1955. 

82 rbid . , July 15, 1959. 

83 1b id., March 24, 1960. 

84 New Era, March 24, 1960. Kentucky 



36 

county, Kentucky, Mr. 8urton r . 
ece,ved the B.A . degree from Georgetown 

College in 1927 and the MA deg 

1936. 
85 · · ree from the University of Kentucky in 

The number of trustees had . . . 
increased to 24 1n 1Y60, including : 

Chai rman Frank H. Bassett, Jr o Jud Ell. 
·• · son 1s, Secretary Cy Willi amson, 

Jr.' A. S. Koon, Rev. J . H. Maddox, Gene Myres, Jack D. Sanford, M. G. 

Williams, Morris J. Wilson, Graham Harvey, H 
enry Leavell, Lawrence Martin, 

Victor Watts , Polla rd White, Norman Ellis, H'Earl Evans, H. o. Price, 

Robert L. Robertson, Jesse S. Bell, H E c K 0 • . amp, . . Cayce, Jr., Russe 11 
Croft, D. Perry Ginn, and Henry E. Hudson. 86 

President Burton led Bethel College through one very successful 

year, but resigned in September, 1961, to become Superintendent of Schools 

in Corbin, Kentucky. The Board of Trustees set out immediately to secure 

a successor. As the school year had already begun and a replacement could 

not be found, the trustees appointed Dean Mark J. Lowry to the position of 

acting president until the position could be filled. Dr. Lowry filled the 

office in a very capable manner until October, 1962, when a successor was 

named. 87 

In 1962, the college conducted a fund raising campaign to raise 

$250,000. The drive was held to raise badly needed funds to improve the 

physical plant, purchase equipment, and continue to upgrade the faculty. 

Wh th . l ed $205 000 had been raised: $82,809 in cash, en e campaign cos , 
· l 88 ·t· property and materia s. $132,810 in pledges, notes, secur, 1es , ' 

85Kentucky New Era, April 18 • 1960 · 

86sethel College Catalo~, 1961 · 

87 Era, October 5, 1962 . Kentucky New 
88 · h 10 , 196 3 · Ibid., Marc 
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The Board elected Dr p H 
· · arris Anderson as President of Bethel 

college in October, 1962. Born in Chi . . 
na of Baptist missionary parents, 

he held degrees from Mercer University and the New Orleans Baptist 
Theological Seminary. Inaugur t· 

a ion ceremonies were held in the main 
auditorium on March 29, 1963_89 

A long awaited dream was fulfilled . th . in e spring of 1963 when 

the college purchased the old McPherson home on 17th Street for $25,000. 

A great asset to the college was this two-story brick mansion with its 

columned portico. This mansion would serve as the president's home. 90 

When plans were announced in the fall of 1963 to build the 

University of Kentucky Conmunity College in Hopkinsville, Bethel officials 

started a campaign to move the college from this conmunity. Some Bethel 

trustees feared the area could not support two colleges. Bethel enroll­

ment had risen to 209 students with the opening of school in September, 

1963. Plans were undertaken by the Board to interest another western 

Kentucky city in raising funds to locate Bethel there. Such cities as 

d "d t. 91 Mayfield, Madisonville, Princeton, and Paducah were un er cons, era 10n. 

Another plan was suggested when consideration was given to 

acquiring a 100-acre tract of land on the Pembroke Road. An amount of 

between $500,000 and $750,000 was needed locally to help pay for the 

ld site did not afford enough developing of the new campus. Theo campus 
. 92 

room for the needed expansion. 

89Kentucky New Era, October 5, 1962. 

golbid., October 10, 1963, 

91 Ibid . , December 18, 1963, 

92 Ibid., December 19, 1963 · 



In December, 1963, Bethel 
College was placed on probation by the 

southern Association of Colleges d 
an Schools. Deficiencies in library, 

laboratory and physi cal facilities d 
• an the general instability of the 

institu t ion were the reasons given f th . 93 
or e action. 

Representatives of 21 Baptist A .. 
ssoc1at1ons met in Princeton in 

late January, 1964, to determi · 
ne interest in saving the college- -then 

five score and ten years old. 
Consideration was also given for the 

logical site for relocation. The meeting fa,·led t t f ' o urn up any ,rm 
evidence of adequate financial support to keep the institution in 

operation. 94 
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On January 26, 1964, the Christian County Baptist Association gave 

up their claim to the Bethel College property. Title to all assets of the 

college reverted to the Kentucky Baptist Convention. The change in the 

college charter was requested to meet an estimated $40,545 operating defi­

cit for the 1963-1964 school year .95 

By the first of February, 1964, the trustees had received no 

offers from western Kentucky cities inviting the school to mo·ve to their 

area. One last attempt for keeping Bethel open was made on February 4 

when the trustees asked Georgetown College officials to take over the 

college as a two-year branch of Georgetown. Dr . Robert L. Mills and a 

committee from Georgetown College visited the Bethel campus to survey the 

possib·ility . It was determi ned that Georgetown College was in no posi-
f. "t 96 

tion to ta ke over an institution that was operating at a de ,c, . 

93Kentucky New Era, December 22, 1963. 

94 1bid., January 28 , 1964. 

95Ibid., January 27, 1964 · 

96 1bid., January 28, 1964 · 



The death knell was sounded on March 17, 1964, when the Bethel 
trustees voted unanimously inf f . 

avor o closing the financially troubled 
Baptist Junior College. The completion of th t h 

1 
ld 

a sc oo year wou mean 
the end of an institution that had contributed richly to the community 

for one hu nd red and ten years. Plans were made to sell the seven-acre 

campus and its thirteen buildings under a liquidation program to be 

administered by the Kentucky Baptist Convention. The trustees continued 

in office throughout the period of disposition of the school's assets 

and liabilities. The fonnal closing of Bethel College came on July 31, 

1964, the end of the school's fiscal year. 97 

On Sunday afternoon, May 31, 1964, the final commencement exer­

cises were held in the college auditorium. At this 104th commencement, 

forty-six students were awarded diplomas. The notes of the 11 Alma Mater 11 

sounded across the gathered assembly from the newly installed pipe organ 

· h d. t . 98 as the procession left t e au 1 or1um. 

The members of the Board of Trustees in 1964 were: Chairman 

Curtis Erwin, Dr. Gabe Payne, D. Judson Ellis, Dr. W. C. Lindley, Rev. 

Gene Myers, Dr. Franklin Owen, M. G. Williams, Dr. Morris Wilson, Owen 

Bi 11 i ngton, Mrs. J. G. Blane, Sr., Rev. Denzel Dukes, Rev. Wesley 0. 

Hanson, Rev. Earl Northern, Rev. J. V. Case, Jr., H'Earl Evans, William 

S. Howlett, Rev. John Huffman, and R. W. 
99 wa lter Warmath. 

A public auction was held on July 8, 1964, to sell the college 

h items as clocks, mirrors, furniture. A large crowd attended as sue 

97Kentucky New Era, July 31, 1964. 

981bid., June 1, 1964. 

99Bethel College Catalog, 1964. 
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tables, and other va l uabl e anti ues 
q were auctioned to the community's 

Peop le who held a strong tie with th ld 100 e o school. 
Between 1964 and the spring of 1966, 

the Bethel Board of Trustees 
made at t empts to dispose of the college property. 

Various organizations 
showed slight interest in developing the campus. 

Thought was given to a 
military school, a shopping center, or a federal housing project as a 
home for the aged. 

Announcement was made on March 3, 1966, that the Trustees had 

sold the main campus to a group of local businessmen. The group, includ­

ing Or. Gabe Payne, Duard Thurman, Joe Rose, and T. George Harris, made 

plans to build a 64-bed convalescent hospital on the Bethel site. The 

hospital would provide professional nursing care to patients during the 

period between intensive hospitalization and the return to normal, active 

life. The hospital, known as the Hopkinsville Medi-Center, was built on 

a five-acre section of the campus facing 17th Street. It was built to 

1 . l 101 accentuate connection with Jennie Stuart Memoria Hosp,ta. 

In April and May of 1966, the historic administration building, 

along with the dormitory wings and the auditorium, was razed to make way 

for the Medi-Center. The brick from these buildings would be used in the 

construction of the New Hopkinsville Medi-Center. Physical influence of 

the old college buildings ended on May 24, 1966, when the four brick-

11 d down but the cultural and social constructed ionic columns were pu e ' 

influence of stately Bethel College would extend into the coming 

generation. 

lOOKentucky New Era, July 8, 1964. 

lOlrbid., March 3, 1966-



CHAPTER IV 

HOPKINSVILLE (M & F) COLLEGE 

For three quarters of a 
century, Hopkinsville Male and Female 

College has occupied a picturesque hi·11 t 
- op campus site in northeast 

Hopkinsville where it has offered Negro t d t • s u ens an opportunity for 

religious and business training. Throughout the years it has been owned 

and financ ially supported by the First District Baptist Association and 

the Little River Baptist Association. The overall purpose of the school 

has been a response to the local needs of ministerial and teacher train­

ing and it has never undertaken to achieve formal accreditation. The 

college has never received outside support other than individual gifts. 1 

The school was founded at a meeting of the First District Baptist 

Association in session with the Green Valley Baptist Church at Clinton, 

Hickman County, Kentucky, in September, 1883. A resolution, which called 

for the establishment of a school, later named the South Western Kentucky 

Institute, was offered by the Rev . 0. Durrett, D.D. The resolution read: 

WHEREAS, We keenly feel and realize our ~reat n:ed 
for better teachers and preachers from an educational v~ew­
point; and WHEREAS the distance to the schools already i~ 
existence is so great that many are hindered from attending 
them, therefore, be it . . . A · 

RESOLVED That the First District Baptist ~socia-
tion found a coliege somewhere within its boundary. 

. d C b rland Valley Baptist Association united The Little River an um e 
. . tion in 1889 physically to establish 

with the First District Baptist Associa 

l Interview, April 18, 1973. 1Frank Thomas, Age 53, Persona 

2 {M & F) College Catalog, 1910. Hopki nsvi ll e 
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the college which had been created six years before. A board of 
directors consis ting of the Revs G 

· eorge W. Dupee, D.D . , E. Williams, D.D . , 
and P. D. Skinner, D.D., was appoint d . 

e 1n 1890. These men inaugurated a 
campaign to raise funds for th 

3 e purchase of a college site in Hopkinsville. 
On January 2, 1893 H k' 

, a op 1nsville real estate developer, James 
Bradshaw, sold to the Directors f th 

o e South Western Kentucky Institute 

four acres of la nd situated between Vine and Williams Streets. Of the 

$1,600 purchase price, the Directors paid $1,000 in cash on the day of 

the sale and the remaining $500 on January 1, 1894. 4 The campus site 

was located on a rolling hill overlooking beautiful Blue Lake and a rugged 

limestone bluff beyond. 

In 1895, through the efforts of a new Board of Trustees, a fund 

raising campaign was started for the erection of a new building. The new 

Board included the following ministers: George W. Dupee, D.D., E. Williams, 

o.o., O. Durrett, D.D., William B. Foster, 8.0., James L. Allensworth, and 

P. T. Bronaugh, of the First District Baptist Association, and W. T. Silvey, 

0.0., G. W. Darden, A.A., J. E. Ladd, 8. McNary, M. S. Jenkins, and B. J. 

Garrott, of the Little River and Cumberland Valley Baptist Association. 5 

The filing of the Articles of Incorporation on July 26, 1899, 

legally instituted the school under the name of Hopkinsville (M & F) College. 

The articles read as follows: 

3Prospectus of M & F College, 19b2. 
d Deed Book 84, p. 450. 4christian County Court Clerk Recor s, 

) College Catala[, 1910. 5Hopkinsville (M & F -



ARTICLES OF INCOR 
PORATION OF HOPKINSVILLE (M & F) COLLEGE 

KNOW ALL MEN BY TH 
sig~ed do hereby associate ESE PRESENTS: That we, the under­
tatives of the FIRST DIST ourselves together as represen­
and the LITTLE RIVER COLO~~~T COLORED BAPTIST ASSOCIATION 
corporate under and by virt BAPTIST ASSOCIATION, as a body 
Kentucky, as set forth . Kue of the laws of the State of 
and 880, for the purpos~n fentuck~ Statues, sections 879 
institution for the educa~· carrying on a college or public 
on this day adopt the follio~ of the colored race, and do 
to-wit: owing ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION, 

FIRST: The name of ·ct .. 
Hopkinsville (M & F) College~ai association shall be: 

SECOND: The locatio f . 
the city of Hopkinsville co~n~ said c~ll~ge shall be in 
Kentucky, and the colleg; build{nof Christ~an, and state of 
acres of ground in th ·ct . g to be situated on four 

e sai city conveyed heretofore by 
proper deed from James Bradshaw to G w D P D 
Skinner, and E. Williams, for the We~te~n ~~~~~cky l~stitute. 

TH~RD: The object of said institution shall be for 
the education of young men and women of the colored race. 

FOURTH: Said institution shall be governed by a 
board of trustees, consisting of thirteen (13) -members, 
seven {7) of whom shall be elected by the First District 
Colored Baptist Association and six {6) of whom shall be 
elected by the Little River and Cumberland Valley Colored 
Baptist Association at their regular meeting. . 

FIFTH: The term of office of said trustees shall 
be: Two trustees from each of the said associations shall 
be elected for a term of two years; three trustees from the 
said First District Association shall be elected for a term 
of four years and two trustees from said Little River and 
Cumberland Valley Association shall be elected for a term 
of four years; and two trustees from e~ch of said associa­
tions shall be elected for a term of six years. 

SIXTH: Said Board of Directors shall elect from 
their number a chairman, a secretary, and a treas~rer, the 
term of office of each to be one year; ~uch elec!1on of 
officers to be held at the regular meeting of said board 
of each and every year. 

SEVENTH· The treasurer of said board of trus!ees 
· ff" . nt bond for a 11 funds coming 

shall give good an~ su ,~,eh 11 be made and approved by 
into his hands, which bonf s asaid treasurer shall enter 
said board of trustees be ~re 
upon the duties of his office. 

43 



EIGHTH : The chairma f 
be present at and preside ovn °ththe bo~rd of tru~tees shall 
and when the sa id chairman _er e meetings of said board, 
the meet i ng t o order and thisbabsent the secretary shall call 
pro- ternpore to preside . e oard shall elect a chairman 

NINTH: The Secretary h 11 
mi nutes of the meetings d d ~-a be present at and keep the 
Trustees and shall t k an e lberations of said Board of 

a e account of all man · d d issue vouchers upon th t eys receive an 
. e reasurer for all moneys paid out which vouchers shall be valid only after b · t · 'd 

by the Chairman of the said Board. eing coun ersigne 

. TENTH: The_Chairman of said Board shall be officially 
a :es~dent of the c1ty_of Hopkinsville, Kentucky, which is the 
pr1nc1pal place of business of this college. 

ELEVENTH: Said Board of Trustees shall meet on the 
first Wednesday in each month and shall transact such bu si­
ness as may regularly come before it, and shall be empowered 
to make such rules and regulations for the control of said 
institution as may seem best in their deliberations. 

TWELFTH: All property, both real, personal and mixed, 
which shall come into the possession of said institution, 
whether by deed, will, purchase or gift shall be held, managed 
and controlled for the use and benefit of said corporation by 
said Board of Trustees. 

IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF we have hereunto set our hands, 
this twenty-sixth day of July in the year of our Lord, 
Eighteen Hundred and Ninety-Nine. 

Edward Williams, Chairman 
P. H. Kennedy 
J. E. Ladd, Treasurer 
J. S. Kirby 
M. S. Jenkins 
James L. Allensworth 
J. J. Mccutchen 
J. w. Hawkins 
William H. Leavell 
G. w. Darden 
D. w. Crenshaw 
c. T. Vaughn6 W. T. Silvey 

erected on the Vine In the fall of 1899, a college building was 

St Th,·s structure, which reet campus. 
stood for thirty-five years, was a 

A ticles of Incorporation 
Court Clerk Records, r 6christian County 

Book l, p. 361-363. 
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two-story frame building , f 
orty by ninety feet. 

• • The first floor contained a comb1nat1on auditori um-chap 1 f 
e • orty by fifty feet, four classrooms, 

office, kitchen, and a hall A • 
. stairway was located at each end of the 

hall. The second floor was used as ad . 
orm, tory, seven rooms on the men's 

hall , and ten rooms on the women's h 11 a · A ha ndsome cupola above the roof 
added a distinctive character to th b .

1 
. 7 e u, ding. 

Hopkinsville (M & F) Coll . 
ege opened in the early spring of 1900 

with Rev. A. C. Schaffner AM l • . ·• se ected as the first president. He 
served only one tenn. When the school d • opene , the first stated purpose 
appeared . 

. . The.College is established for the purpose of 
tra1n1ng children in the way they should go; preparing 
young men and young women for business life, teachers 
and_preach~rs tor better and more effective service in 
the, r ca 11, ng. 

The College made its greatest progress under the wise and efficient 

management of President Patterson Tilford Frazer, A.B., A.M. 11 The Profes­

sor,11 as he was affectionately known, served from August, 1900, until around 

1920. Upon his arrival the new president assembled a faculty consisting of 

seven instructors, and he established a curriculum including: Model School, 

Teacher Course, Music, Business, College Preparatory, Dress-Making and 

Ministerial. The faculty included: Professor Patterson Frazer, Languages, 

Mathematics, and Science; Mrs. Laura T. Frazer, Dress-Making and English; 

Rev. N. B. Bronaugh, Theology; Miss Mary E. Burse, Music; Miss Mary 

Samuels, Model School; Miss Lois K. Tyler, Philosophy, Geography, and 

. 1 9 
History; and J. R. Duncan, M.D., Anatomy and Phys10 ogy. 

7 . 71, Personal Interview, April 10, 1973. 
Mrs. R. D. Ladd, Age 

8Hopkinsville (M & F) College Catala~. 1910. 

9Ibid. 



The College expenses included 
the following in 1910: 

Board, per month 
Tuition - Model S~h~oi · · · · · • .... . 
Tuition - Preparatory Deper month .. . . 
Tuition - Teacher's Cour~artment, per month 
Tuition - Instrumental Mue! per month 
Tuition - Dress-Makin sic, per month 
T ·t· · g, per month u1 ion - Business, per month · · · ..... 

$7.00 
1.00 
1. 50 
2.00 
2.00 
2.5010 
3.00 

A school day at the College sixty years ago began at 5:00 A.M. 

with the rising bell. Chapel attendance was required at 8:30 each day 

and classes were conducted from 9:00 until l2:00. Recitations and 

industrial work were held in the afternoon. Study was the 11order of 

the evening," with "lights out" at 10:00 P.M. 

Rules and regulations were very much a part of college life. 

The association of opposite sexes was strictly forbidden, and no com­

munication, whether verbal or written, was allowed except by permission. 

All students were required to have a song book and Bible, and to attend 

all chapel services. The girls were required to wear a unifonn which 

confonned to the following description: 

Blue trimmed with red. The skirt is seven gored 
with three row~ of red seven i~ches from bo~tohm otf_heTi 
The waist requires a square sailor collar wit a 1e. 
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Enrollment at the College during the first decade of its operation 

d t d t In 1910, twenty-six children ranged from fifty to one hundre s u ens. 

were attending the Model School and sixty students were enrolled in the 

College Department . 

followl·ng the retirement of Professor Patterson, a 
In the years 

Came to serve--each giving of his own talents. Dr. 
number of presidents 

the Trustees selected Mrs. Lillie 
William Foster served a few mon ths until 

lo (M & F) College Catalo_g_, 1910. 
Hop k i n s v i 11 e _ _ -

11 Ibid. 



Fisher Brent to head the sh 
C 001. 0th er presidents · 

R. M. Sma 11, Professor Wi 11 . 1 ncl uded: Professor 
is Braxton, Dr. W. K M 

berlake, Rev . William H. Leavell · oorland, Rev. Tim-
' Rev. John M St 

Mclawler Rev V A Ed · evenson, Rev. V. W. 
' · · · wards R ' ev. J. T. Ridley, Rev. Austin Bell 

w. K. Seals, and Rev. Rafel S f , Rev. 
an ord who died . in office in February, 1973. 

The Board of Trustees appointed Rev. 
Alonzo T. Kendrick as Acting Presi-

dent for the remainder of the s • pr, ng term.12 

A local newspaper featured .. a descr1pt1on of social events at 
Hopkinsville (M & F) College in th l . e c os,ng days of Professor Frazer's 
administration. 

The Va 1 enti ne Soci 1 · 
last Friday afternoon was a _gtiven by the students on 
Off' · . qu, ea success. A Post 
. ice, w~th Mr. Elliott Tuisley as Post Master was 

h
,~ opheradt,on and many pieces of mail passed thr~ugh 
1s ans. 

· "The Old District School" will be rendered by 
the s~uden~s on February 28. If you miss this play, 
you will miss two of the most cheerful hours of your 
life. Admission 15¢ and 10¢.lJ 

Hopkinsville (M & F) College, not unlike other educational 

institutions, experienced difficulty in conti~uing operation during the 

depression years of the 1930 1 s. In fact, an action of the natural 

elements one spring night in that decade nearly forced the school to 

close permanently. On the night of May 2, 1935, a severe wind storm 
· 1 d. 14 Th . swept through Hopkinsville and blew down the College bu, 1ng. ,s 

event was described later by an occupant of the building and a survivor. 

12 Age go, Personal Interview, April 9, 1973. Mrs. Mary Winn, 
13 ) February 22, 1919. 

The Little Courant, (Newspaper' 

14Kentucky New Era, May 3, 1935, 
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Thursday morn; 
was sulky and clod ng, May 2, when w 
8·30 p M a u Y, and the wind eh_arose, the weather 

· : · ! gust of wind ca was igh all day About 
the building began to shake me and with_it a loud n~ise and 
lea~e our rooms on the seco~d At that time we attempted to 
stairway gone. Rev. Ladd ·u floor but we found the front 
the floor next to the kit~ mped from the upstairs hall to 
also. As I started a naif en and he called for us to jump 
round and round like as . c~ught my clothes and I went 
ning flashed, my clothesP~n~~na top, but when the light­
~add's arms. We started o~t e loose and l fell in Rev. 
,twas blocked with brick dbY

1
the w~y of the office, but 

flashed again and we couldan P ~ste~ing. The lightning 
laid back like an open suitsee t e side of the kitchen was 
through the kitchen. case. We got to the outside 

The next morning we came t 
Lord had so mercifully spared our ~_see the place whe:e the 
found one of the Bibl d ives. In the debris we 

es opene at Psalms 118 and were im-
P.re~se? to read the twenty-third and twenty-fourth verses 
This 1s the. day whl'ch the Lord hath made· we will · · · 

and be glad ,nit."!> ' reJ01ce 

Plans were developed immediately for the construction of a new 

college building, but the shortage of funds made this impossible for 

around three years. In 1938 or 1939, a building contractor and stone 

mason, Sam L. Steward, supervised construction of the present college 

building. The stone structure contained an auditorium and two class­

rooms on the second floor and two classrooms, a kitchen, and a dining 

room on the first floor. 16 

In 1952, Hopkinsville (M & F) College published its most recent 

catalog. The faculty at that time consisted of Vinson Allen Edwards, 

Pastoral Theology; Kate S. Atkins, Commercial; William P. Thurman, 

81.ble·, and Eleanora W. Starks, Missions and Homiletics; J. J . Jenkins, 
. lum was reorganized with the offering 

Religious Education. The curricu 

Bl'ble, Christian Theology, Sermon Preparation 
of the following courses: 

15 Personal Interview, April 19, 1973 . 
Mrs. R. D. Ladd, Age 7l, 

Personal Interview, April 3, 1973. 
16Al onzo T. Kendrick, Age 53 • 
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and Delivery, Miss ions and Rel • . 
. ig1ous Education, Sociology, Pastoral 

Theology , English, Typewriting Sh 
, orthand, ands 

Tuition was $5.00 a month for ea h 17 
ecretarial Practice . 

c course. 
In the early 1960's am 

' ovement was started to 
a suggested move to change the name o.f the 

gain support 

College. The prevailing 
belief was that a name rrore closely related 

to the function of the 

for 

school would be of greater benefit. Th 
rough the years the college had 

gradually developed into an institution committed to the education of 

ministers and Chri stian Workers. Accordingly, on November 4, 1965, the 

Articles of Incorporation were amended to read, "the name of said col-

lege shall be the Hopkinsville College of the Bible. 11 18 

The college curriculum was reorganized into three departments: 

Corrmercial, Mission Work, and Ministerial Instruction. The 1972-1973 

academic year operated on a ten-month schedule with an enrollment of 

55 students, most of them attending night classes. Tuition remained at 

$5.00 per month. The faculty included: Alonzo T. Kendrick, A. R. 

Lasley, and B. F. Green in Ministerial Instruction; Mary Ann Tooley, 

Mission Work; Kate S. Atkins, Commer~ial; and Samella Brown, English. 19 

The number of trustees in 1973 remained at thirteen. Members of 

the Board at that time included the following ministers: Chairman B. F. 

11 Treasurer A. R. Lasley, H.B. Taylor, Green, Secretary C. E. Bagwe , 

L. Croney, A. D. McCombs, H. E. Dillard, Austin Bell, A. T. ~endrick, S. 
. . 20 

f d d C. D. Martin. N. A. Kirby, Willie Neal, E. D. Rad or, an 

17Prospectus of M & F College, 1962 · 
Articles of Incorporation, 

18 County Court Clerk Records, Christian 
Book 6 , p . 4 6 3 . 

19 Kendri ck, l oc. cit. 
. w April 9, 1973. 

al Jnterv1 e , 
20A. R. Lasley, Age 66, Person 



The purpose of the Col lege remained essentially the same i n 1973 

as wa s original ly intended i n the motion of O. Durrett in 1883: 

"to serve indi vidual s , families, churches, and district 
associations i n West Kentucky in the following areas: 

1. 

2. 

3. 

Reli gi ous Leadership Training 

A Religious Center of Inspiration and Information 

Strengthen Christian Fellowship among the Chu21hes 
Generally and Particularly Baptist Churches. " 

21Prospectus of M & 
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Chapter v 

HOPK~~~~i~t~T~OMOF KENTUCKY 
MUNITY COLLEGE 

The most critical 
rary education must d 1 problems with which cont 

1 • ea a re s · 1 empo-ca , in character Th ocia, rather than ph · 
existing among me~ andey a~e rooted in the relation{si-
relations to his natura~ocie~ies, rather than in man's 
importance is the proble en~iron~ent. Of transcendent 
with justice in a world~ 0 ~chieving lasting peace 
ideologies, one based u orn etween conflicting 
individual, and the oth~~ndf;~edom and dignity of the 
the_state. Closely entwine~ i~:~ed ~o the sup~emacy of 
national challenge is the nat~i 1this urgent inter­
our political and economic in~~~~ t~eed t? s!rengthen 
work of democratic values sot~~ i~ns w~thin a frame-
can fulfi11 its moral ' _a t e United States 
leader of the free wor~~~lmaterial responsibilities as 

Within this framework, it speaks well for the people of Christian 

County to bring to a reality the philosophy and goals that are so widely 

respected. 

President Truman's Commission on Higher Education pointed out in 

1947 the great need for the two-year college and suggested the name 

11 community college" be applied to the institution designed to serve 

chiefly local community educational needs. These needs have become more 

apparent since World wa~ II. A need existed for some education beyond 

high school other than the four-year college. Business and industry 

expressed a plea for workers trained beyond the secondary level. A 

potential housi ng shortage on university campuses across the land was 

making higher education within commuting distance of a greater segment of 

I . · St d of General Education in Junior 

C 
B. Lamar Johnson , Califor~ia Cuu~cil on Education, 1952), p. 15. 

-9l leqes, (Washington, D.C.: American ° · 
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the population an irrminent nee · . 

es s,ty. The COITITiunity college idea seemed 
to bridge the tradit ionally weak link 

school 
between the comprehensive high 

and advanced l evel of uni . 2 vers,ty study. 
Community colleges could . 

provide for increasing college enroll-
ments. By 1962, there were more than 700 such 

institutions, an increase from 
about ten in the early 1900's. At the . 

present time, one out of every four 
students entering college enrolls in a . 

community college, and one million 
were enrolled in 1962. Educati 1 1 

ona eaders were expanding these colleges 

with the goal of putting higher education within financial and corrmuting 

reach of the entire college-age population of the United States.3 

As the decade of the 1960's dawned, university centers in Kentucky 

served some of the functions generally attributed to community colleges, 

but their programs were closely related to the parent institution. The 

institution which was to become Northern Community College had been 

established in Covington in 1948. Eight others were to be formed: Ashland 

Community College had been formed in 1957; Fort Knox Corrmunity College, 

1958; and Henderson Community College and Southeast Community College at 

Cumberland, 1960. Elizabethtown and Prestonburg Community Colleges were 

established in 1964, and Somerset and Hopkinsville Community Colleges and 

the Technical Institute at Lexington in 1965. 
4 

,·n Kentucky occupied an interesting position, Community colleges 

Wl.th the one hand and community orientation on the university memberships on 

2universit of Kentuck Bulletin Communit 
Co 11 e e S stern, 

(Lexington, October, 1965 , P· 9. 

3Chamber of Co1TJT1erce of the United States, 
(Washington, O.C., January, 1963). 

Washington Report, 

4 B 11 et i n lo c . c i t . 
U · · t of Kentucky u ' n1vers1 y -
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other. Each co 11 ege was an i ntegra 1 

part of the univers,· ty w,· th 
standards of admission asap 1. the samP. 

p led to the parent institution. 
college, through its local advisory b And, each 

oard and other t · 
to the needs of t he comm . ies, related itself unity. 

The community colleges 
had been charged with 

Th f · three functions: 
1. e , rs t was to offer tr 

who wish to complete the ~~sfer curricula for those 
laureate program. 1rst two years of a bacca-

2. A se~ond obligation was that . 
term1nal programs desig d t the offering of two-year 
immediate employment on": t ohp~epare the ~tudent for 
level. ec nical or sem1-professional 

3. Finally, the community colle . 
tinuing educational O ~e~ were to prov1de con-
their immediate area.pportun1t1es for the citizens of 

A director was responsible for general administration of each 

community college. He was assisted by a bursar-recorder, a full-time 

faculty and staff, and several part-time instructors. 

Local advisory boards in the respective communities and the 

Faculty Advisory Committee on Community Colleges in Lexington was to 

counsel with the administration of the Community College System. 5 Members 

of the Hopkinsville Community College Advisory Board were: William G. 

Deatherage as Chairman, Louis B. Langhi, Frank B. Lacy, III, George Street 

Boone, Smith D. Broadbent, III, W.W. Bryan, and Mrs. W. D. Talbert .
6 

Governor Bert Combs appointed this Board in 1962 with the exception of 

Mrs. w. o. Talbert. Her husband, William D. Talbert, was appointed origi-

1 Upon Mr. Talbert 's death in 1965, William G. 
na Chai rman of the Board. 

M T lb twas placed on the Board. 
Deatherage was appointed Chairman and rs. a er 

5Un i vers ity of Kentucky Bulletin, loc. cit. 

6 (Unpublished). 
W. D. Talbert, Personal Papers, 



The Hopkinsvi lle Communit 
• Y Co 11 ege had its off,· c ,· al 

senate B111 No. 102 which pa d beginning in 
sse March 15, 1960. This bill 

provided for the establishment f primarily 
o an Extension Center at El . 

b t Secti on 3 of thi s bill izabethtown, 
u read as follows:7 

. Sect~o~ 3. There is her 
of five qualified persons a . eby created a Commission 
study the needs for and pl ppointed by the Governor to 
sities, colleges, and off_acement of additional univer­
best serve the Commonwealt~ampus centers which might 
should encompass and the or' t~e t~pes of programs they 
would best insure their conf~n,~at,onal pattern which 
Corm,onwealth and the partic ~nu,ng contribution to the 
mission will report to the~ ar area served. The Com-
1961, in order that sufficie~~ernor ?nor before July 1, 
prior to the meeting of the 196~1Gann1nglmaAy be comijleted 

enera ssembly. 
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The chairman of this committee appoi t db G n e Y overnor Combs was Dr. 

Otis C. Amis, fa ther of Dr. Jack D. Amis, who now resides in Hopkinsville. 9 

Other members of the Governor's Commission were: w. R. Patterson, Louis­

ville; Cloyd McDowell, Harlan; Maxon Price, Barlow; and R. v. May, Preston-

burg. This coITTTiittee made a report on November 1, 1961, which contained 

the following statements and recommendations concerning Hopkinsville. 

The Hopkinsville Area. In applying the criteria, 
using Hopkinsville, in Christian County, as the focal 
point for a circle with a radius of thirty miles, it was 
found that the population in Christian, Todd, Muhlenberg, 
Hopkins, Caldwell, and Trigg Counties were approximately 
156,000. 1960 high school graduates in this area totaled 
about 1,400. This apparently would be a center that 
might be considered favorably by the State for the loca­
tion of a regional college, even !hough the total number 
of high school graduates falls slightly below the sug-
gested minimum of 1,500. 

7 ,1Brief History of Hopkinsville Community College," W. D. Talbert, 
(Unpublished). 

mendations of the Governor's Com-
. 8Re ort on the Findi~ s ?nd Recom ,on to the Honorable Bert T. 

mission on the Study o Public Higher Educat k (Frankfort, November 1. 1961) . 
.0mbs, Governor of the Commonwealth of Kentuc y, 

(Unpublished). 9w. D. Talbert, Personal Papers, 



. The Governor' s Conm· . 
Higher Educati on would iss,on on the Study of p bl. 
k · · 11 s recommend th u 1c 1~sv~ e, omerset and Bla at Prestonburg, Ho_ 
pr1or1ty arra ngement for thckey-Haz~rd areas be givenpa 
coll:ge. In establishin e_es~a~l1shment of a junior 
erat1 on should be given iop~~or,t,es, the first consid-
greate r population and th estonburg because of the 
graduates. It is apparen~ freater number of high school 
Prestonburg could eventuall rom th: study made that 
college. Recent efforts ofy grow into more than a junior 
the development of extensionon~ of the State colleges in 
program centered at Prestonb c asses and an extension 
students who were immediatel~r~ :ttracted_from 200 to 400 
offered . This would further in e~ested in th~ c~urses 
this commission. corro orate the f1nd1ngs of 

. S~co~d in priority as a probable center for a 
regional Junior college should be Hopkinsville Th' . 
b~sed o~ the_fact that Hopkinsville is at least fif~~ ~~ 
s!xt~-five mile~ from a~y Stat~ facility or institution 
o, higher learning and is not in proximity to private 
colleges, ~xce~t for the Bethel Junior College, a Baptist 
sch~o~ ,_which is _l~cated in Hopkinsville, with limited 
facilities and limited resources for expansion. 

The State should establish priorities for the 
deve~opm~nt of regional junior colleges at Prestonburg, 
Hopkinsville, Somerset, and, perhaps, Hazard in this order. 
These new institutions should be built, maintained, and 
operated at the expense of the State of Kentucky. This 
does not mean that localities may not make financial or 
property contributions to these institutions but these 
should not be made as inducements to bring the institu­
tions to their respective localities. No new institution 
of higher learning should be located in an area unless 
there is definite evidence of local d16ire for the loca­
tion of the school in the given area. 
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The next step toward the realization of the Hopkinsville Community 

College was reached with the passage of House Bill No. 234, February 14 • 

1962 . Before the bill is presented, a view must be taken of the effort to 

ge t it through the legislature . 
11 

10Governo r 's Report, lac. cit. 

11 l Papers, 'Unpublished). 
W. D. Talbert, Persona \ 



From the very begi nning of the Co . 
111Tlun,ty College movement as 

suggested by the Governor ' s Cormii . 
ss,on on Public Higher Education in 

l961, Governor Bert T. Combs gav h' 
e is full support to the plan. On 

December 12, 1961, on the eve of the 
1962 Legislative Session, Gover­

nor Combs heartily endorsed th 
e proposed establishment of state-

supported junior colleges. He stated at th t· 
e ,me that he would ask 

the General Assembly to develop a 
plan and timetable for financing 

and opening the two-year junior colleges.12 

The Community College Bill passed in the house with only small 

opposition. The main contention centered around the representatives 

from the communities which then contained state colleges. Fear existed 

that the money needed to start the Community College System would drain 

the budget received by the state colleges. 13 The bill passed in the 

Senate with only two negative votes. Voting against the bill were 

Senators George Overby and Shelby Kinkead. Kinkead, Democrat from 

Lexington, offered no explanation, but Overby, Democrat of Murray, said 

that for various reasons he had been restrained from supporting this 

legislation. He cast a negative vote with reluctance. 14 The same basic 
. h h 15 opposition existed with these senators that had occurred 1n t e ouse. 

The Commur.ity College Bill was passed by the lower house on 

February 14, 1962, by a vote of 86 to 4. The bill was approved by the 

1 On February 21, 1962, and signed by Senate with a vote of 32 to 

12Kentucky New Era, December 12, 1961 · 
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l Interview, June 23, 1966 . . 13or . Thomas L. Riley, Age 39, Persona 

14Kentucky New Era' February 22' 1962. 

15 . , 1 . t R1 ey, oc. c1 . 



Governor Bert T. Combs 57 on March 6, 1962. 16 
fo llows: House Bill No 234 · read as 

ColT1llittee on K 
the following bill .entucky Statutes 
ordered t o be print:~ich originated in~~- 3 reported 
cat ion. · An act relati e H?use, was ng to higher edu-

.. WHEREAS, the need 
add1t1onal Community C 11 has been establish d f o eges. e or four 

NOW THEREFORE: 

Be it enacted by the 
Commonwealth of Kentucky: General Assembly of the 

Section 1. As used in . 
context requires otherwise, "Bo~h,~ Act, unless the 
Trustees of the University f K rd means the Board of 0 entucky. 

Section 2. The Universit . 
College System is established EY of Kentu~ky Community 
shall provide a two-year curricul~~~ Co11T11unity College 

Section 3. A Communit C 11 
tained in Ashland, Covington ~e ~ ege shall be main-
Elizabethtown and the b ' n erson, Cumberland and 
facilities _existing int~!~~ ~~~~n~~~~:r~0a~h Univ;rs~ty 
the Commun, ty Co 11 ege Sys tern. e use., o 

. Section 4. There shall be established and main-
ta,ne~ a Community College in each of the following 
locations : Prestonburg, Blackey-Hazard, Hopkinsville, 
Somerset, each to be established as funds are made avail­
able. 

. Sect ion 5. (1) The boa rd has the same powers 
with respect to the Community Colleges that it has as to 
the University of Kentucky in general. The board shall 
designate each Community College with a name that 
includes the words "Corrununity C01lege. 11 (2) The board 
shall encourage and may accept funds or both to be used 
in the acquisition, construction or operation of Community 
Colleges. The board may commemorate donations from private 
persons or corporations with suitable memor~als. (3) '.he 
board may accept Federa I Grants to be ·1sed ~ n the acqu,-
s i ti on , const ruction or operation of Community Colleges. 

Section 6. (1) The Governor shall appoint a local 
Adv isory Board for each community college. Each local 

16w D T lb t Personal Papers, (Unpublished). . . a er , 



advisory board shall s . 
b d d h erve , n a d . 
oar an t e head of the co n_a v1sory capacity to the 

tion of the commun ity coll mmun,ty college on the op 
board shal~ consist of sev!~e. (2) Each local advis~~;­
four years, however, when ~mb:rs. A member's term is 
of the local advisory boar~~point,ng the initial members 
some members for terms of 1 ' the Governor may appoint 
advisory board members shal1ss th~n four years. Local 
their services, but shall b re~e,ve no compensation for 
necessary expenses.It e paid for their actual and 

By these actions it would seem th t H . . 
a opkinsv1lle was soon to have 

a community college. However, there were many obstacles. 
First, Presi-
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dent Dickey of the University of Kentucky was not too much in favor of com-

munity colleges and he took no active part in the,· t· . 
r crea ion. However, 1n 

1962, he resigned as president and was succeeded by Dr. John w. Oswald.18 

or. Oswald gave the Conmunity College System his full backing, support and 

cooperation. He stated that he would "work very hard to make the 

community colleges a very important force in the state. 1119 

Next, the community was notified that it must furnish the site, 

with utilities. Finally, the existence of Bethel College in Hopkinsville 
20 

presented a problem. 

Many committees visited Hopkinsville and many sites were consid­

ered including 70 acres on the Western State Hospital grounds, 50 acres 

on U.S. Highway 41A belonging to the Edmunds' heirs, 30 acres on the rear 

of Joe Fike's farm on U.S. Highway 68 West, and approximately 70 acres of 

Emmett Haydon's land immediately north of Christian County High School.21 

17w. D. Talbert, Personal Papers, (Unpublished). 

18W. D. Talbert, "Brief History of Hopkinsville Community College," 
(Unpublished) . 

19The Courier Journal, December 13, 1963. 

(Unpublished). 20w. D. Talbert, Personal Papers, 

21Talbert, "Brief History," lac. cit. 
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It was finally decided that th H 

e aydon property w ld 
for a community college becaus f . ou be most satisfactory 

e o its location ne h' 
th Ch a r i ghways and the 

proximity to e ristia n County High 
School acrea ge . Mr. Haydon asked $I ,000 per acre for the property, th 

e same amount he had been paid for 
the Christian County High School land.22 

The action of the Bethel C 1 o lege Board of Trustees in March, 1964, 
acting to close the 110-year-old B t· 

ap 1st school removed the last large 
problem facing the establishment of th H k" . 

e op insv1lle Community College. 
The Bethel Board of Trustees held the beli f th. . . 

e at Hopkinsville and the 
surrounding community could not support two inst·t t· . 1 u ions of higher learn-
ing. University of Kentucky officials felt that th c • e ommumty College 

would complement Bethel by offering courses not offered by Bethel.23 The 

lack of financial stability and being pl aced on probation by the Southern 

Association of Colleges and Schools spelled the end of Bethel College in 

May, 1964. 24 

On October 18, 1963, the Executive Committee of the Board of 

Trustees of the University of Kentucky accepted a 66.3 acre site for the 

college and voted to go ahead with the construction. 25 The site chosen 

was the land belonging to Emmett Haydon adjacent to the Christian County 

High School property. 26 This action meant that Hopkinsville must raise 

the money to buy the property for the co 11 ege. The Chamber of Commerce 

Planning Committee was appointed including W. D. Talbert, Frank Lacy, 

22w. D. Talbert, Personal Papers, (Unpublished). 

23 Kentucky New Era, March 19, 1964, 

24 Ibid ., March 29, 1964. 

25 0 t b r 18, 1963. The Courier Journal, co e 
26 (Unpublished). 

W. D. Talbert, Personal Papers, 
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w. G. Deatherage, Louis Langh ' G 
i ' eorge Boone, 

John O. Metcalfe. An option for 
Smith D. Broadbent, and 

120 days wa . 
s exercised on the Haydon 

property and Jo hn Metcalfe agreed to act . 
as chairman of the Fund D. ' d rive. It was dee, ed to make a low pressur d . 

e rive and to do as little as 
possible to aggravate the Bethel situati A . 

on. s the Community Givers 
Fund Drive was underway, the COl!l11ittee did t . 

no wish to hurt it in any 
27 h f d . . 

way. T e un raising campaign was begun on December 9, 1963, and the 

goal was reached on February 15, 1964. The final amount donated was 

$72,585.95. There were 71 contributors from Trigg County, 12 from Todd 

county, and 274 from Christian County, ranging from $2 to $7,ooa.28 

The Advisory Board purchased 66.3 acres of land from Emmett 

Haydon on December 23, 1963, at $1,000 ~er acre. To complete the tract 

of land, 2.61 acres were bought from Waldo E. Adams for $1 per acre on 

December 24, 1963. A balance of $3,647.86 was still in the fund after 

11 f d d . . 1 d . . 29 paying various misce aneous un rive expenses, me u ,ng surveying. 

Deeds to all the property were given to the University of Ken­

tucky on February 19, 1964. The land had cost $66,632.61. Estimated 

cost of putting water and sewer lines to the property was $50,000, mak-

. . . ·t f b t $120 000 not includ-ing a total con tr, but, on by the commun1 Y o a ou , ' . 

ing streets, electric power, and gas. This action was taken by the City 

of Hopkinsville. 30 

27 Kentucky New Era' December 9, 1963. 11 . 

. .11 Community College, 
28w. D. Talbert, uBrief History of Hopkrnsv1 e . 

(Unpub l is hed). 
· (Unpublished). 29w. D. Talbert, Personal Papers, 

30 New Era, February 20, 1964. Kentucky 
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In groundbreaki ng ce remonies 

1g64, Governor Edward T. 
at the colle • ge site on September 2 

Breathitt said "All f , 
, o you here will be touched 

by the influence of th is college as •t b 
, roadens the opportunity of the 

community, enric hes i ts people with 
the imperishable and invaluable com-

moditi es of knowledge and understanding d 
, an elevates its standards of 

citizenship and morality. I pledge to yo (h 
· u e told an audience of about 

200) that I will do whatever is "bl 
poss, e to speed the development of the 

college and make it a success. I h 
ope you will avail yourselves of the 

services and the opportunities it offers. r hope you will welcome its 

faculty and staff and its out-of-town students. I hope you will make it 

an integral part of our community, a showplace for visitors, the pride of 

local residents, a center of culture and knowledge and a symbol of oppor-

. f 11 1131 tun1ty or a . Dr. John W. Oswald, President of the University of 

Kentucky, pointed out that the new extension would open as a part of the 

University's Centennial year celebration, beginning its first century as 

the parent university goes into its second century . 

Among the dignitaries present for the ceremonies were: Major­

General Beverly E. Powell, commanding general at Fort Campbell and the 

101st Airborne Division; Dr. Ellis Hartford, dean of the UK Community 

Colleges; Dean R. D. Johnson, University Extension; Smith D. Broadbent, 

university trustee; Senator OWen Billington of Murray; Representatives 

John 0. Hardin and James Bruce; Governor Edward T. Breathitt; and 

. J h W Oswa 1 d. Mayor Ernest 
Universi ty of Kentuc ky President Dr. 0 n · 

31 Kent ucky New Era, September 2, 1964 . 



Lackey was maste r of ceremoni es and m . 
us1c wa s furnished by the band 

Chri stian County Hi gh Schoo1. 32 from 

The University of Kentucky sold $ . . 
1 m1ll1on in revenue bonds on 

September 10, 1964, to help construct . 
community colleges at Hopkinsville 

and somerset. A syndicate of five firm 
s entered the lowest of four bids, 

offering a total of $980,020, and an average . t 
in erest rate of 3.74419%. 
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Total interest, with coupons dated 1966 through 
1989 , would be $574,05~.50. 

Equitable Securities Corporation, Nashville, Tennessee, 
and Merri 11 , Lynch, 

Pierce, Fenner, and Smith, New York City, headed the winning bidders. 

Associates included Stifel, Nicholaus and Company, Louisville, and w. E. 

Hutton and Company, and Russell Long and Company, both of Lexington.33 

Low bid for the construction of the building was made by the Clark 

Construction Company of Owensboro, and work got underway in mid-September. 

The $909,375 bid was for a modern architectural design of brick and steel 

construction. The structure, to contain 44,000 square feet of floor space, 

was to have fourteen regular classrooms, three science laboratories, study 

hall and library. 14 Lawrence Casner was the architect for the college 

building. 35 

During the first six months of 1965, the University of Kentucky 

Hopki nsvi 11 e Community Co 11 ege emerged from little more than the contrac­

tor1 s basement excavation to become a nearly-completed structure that was 

11 Program for Ground-32scrapbook, Hopkinsville Community Co ege, 
breaking Ceremonies. 

33The Courier Journal, September 10, 1964. 

34Kentucky New Era, November 5, 1964. 

35The Kentucky Architect, December, 1965, p. 19. 



useful in its arrangement and beautiful 
in architectural design. Solid interest and support from the community d 1 
eve oped as rapidly as the 

bui 1 ding itself. A vigorous faculty recruitment anct 
selection made it 

possible to place highly-qualified instructors 
under contract for the 

Recruitment had proceeded on first academic year. 
the theory that an 

institution of higher learning can b b 
e no etter than its instructional 

staff. Time and much care had been taken in the selection process.36 
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Instructors appointed were in the fields of English, chemistry, business, 

accounting, history, mathematics, biology, and a librarian.37 

The Board of Trustees appointed Dr. Thomas L. Riley, 8 native of 

Carroll County, Kentucky, to become director of the college on February 1. 

or. Riley, who had broad experience in teaching and agricultural work, had 

been employed in Ohio State University 1 s urban extension project in Cleve­

land. The director received the B.S. and M.S. degrees from the University 

of Kentucky, and the Ph.D. degree from the University of Chicago. · From 

1952 to 1962, he had served as agricultural extension agent in Kenton 

County. 38 

Tempera ry offices for the co 11 ege were opened on February 1, . 

1965, on West Ninth Street. The need for the office existed in °rder 

that the director could assemble a staff and a faculty and make 0ther 

preparations for the fall opening date of September 1· Interested com-

Off,·ce for an explanation of the program to rnu nity patrons visited the 

36Thomas L. Riley, "Activity Report of Hopkinsville Community 
College." 

37scrapbook, Hopkinsville CoITT11unity College. 

38 Kentucky New Era, January 16 ' 1965 ' 



Offered at the new schoo l be 

accepted at the off i ce. 
39 

and applications 
for enrollment were 

On Ap r i 1 2 0 , 19 6 5 , 
Dr. Riley announced th t 

a student applications 
for the opening of the fal l semester h 

ad reached 100. 
The tuition fee 

for full-time resident students was $ 
125 per semester, while the fee 

fo r part-time resident students was $l 
1 per semester hour For · out-of-

state students, the fee was $310 per semest f . 
er or full-time enrollment 

and $28 per semester hour for part-time stud t 40 ens. 

In planning and arranging the curriculum, an emphasis had been 

pl aced on four separate yet interrelated phases. Plans were formulated 

for the liberal arts and sciences for students desiring transfer work; 

two-year academic courses of study for students desiring terminal 

associate degrees; credit and non-credit course work and activities of 
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a continuing educational nature designed to meet needs and interests of 

adults; and lastly, the provision of facilities, publicity and other aid 

for the limited offering of upper division and graduate level course work 

to be offered by extension. 41 Arrangements were also made to offer an 

associate degree in accounting. The curricula would include arts and 

sciences, agriculture and home economics, engineering, law, education, 

. t 42 pharmacy, medicine, nursing, and dent1s ry. 

f 1965, announcement was made of a number of During the summer o 

d Modern Scl·ence laboratory equipment was 
a vancements for the co 11 ege. 

39The Courier Journal, February 1, 1965 · 

4°Kentucky New Era, April 20, 1965 · 

41 R·1 l ·t l ey, OC. Cl . 

42 Kentucky New Era, April 20, 1965 · 



65 
being installed as an electron ics 1 b a oratory for . 

instruction in Modern 
Foreign Language, speech, music appreci . 

at,on, and shorthand 
would acquire 2,600 vol umes as well as e . · The library 

qu1pment for microfil . . 
d t d ming of h1 s 

torical recor s , s u ent records, and b k . . -
ac per1od1cals. A tel h . 

1 d b t . d . ep one 
sys tern wou e 1 e into the pub 1 i c add . 

ress equipment so that direct 
telephone lectures from Lexington campus and 

Vanderbilt University as well 
as other schoo 1 s might be arranged. o tl 

u ets for closed-circuit television 

l·n all classrooms would also be ava·1 bl , a e for instruction by this means.43 

In late August, 1965, the building was completed and A , , on ugust 28, 

an open house was held for the public to view then -11 . ew m1 ion-dollar struc-

ture. Approximately 1,000 persons attended the faculty reception and open 

house. 44 

The structure the visitors viewed was a completely air-conditioned 

building that would offer exceptional educational facilities for its 

slightly over $1,000,000 construction cost. The architect, working with 

a basic rectangular shape, created a structure with 0utside dimensions of 

169 1 x 217'. The building included ample classroom space and also an 

assembly room (47' x 71') which could be opened to 70' x 71'. The 

structure also contained a library, food vending area, an administrative 

section, and 14 offices adjacent to classrooms. Classified as completely 

fireproof, the building had a reinforced concrete frame with exterior walls 

t block painted a soft 
of ceramic-glazed brick. Interior walls were cemen ' 

shade of blue . 

43Riley, lac. cit . 

44 Kentucky New Era, August 29, 1965 · 



Highlight of the exte r i or construct· 
ion was the sawtooth roof 

C
overing the entire inner core of th b . . , 

e u1ld1ng d . , an its exten . 
portico, sheltering the ma in entrance Cl s1on as a 

. o ored glass panels on both 
sides and ends of the raised room section 

created an unusual d . ecorat-
ing effect bot h from the interior and ext . 

er1or of the structure. 
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Inside, this sawtooth effect provided another plus; 
Lighting fixtures 

had been installed so that they hung flush with the 
lowest part of the 

ceiling and the 
11

V
11 

shaped ceiling actually acted as 
a reflector for 

each indirect type of lighting unit installed i h 11 • n eac open, ng. 11 

Two classrooms used folding partitions to s bd' 'd u 1v1 e them . One 

of these, next to the auditorium, also had a folding wall along the 

auditorium side of the room, so that the capacity of that room could 

be doubled. All rooms, both along the outer wall and the inner core, 

were accessible from a central hall which completely circled the build­

ing; ending or beginning as it were at the high sawtooth ceilinged foyer . 

This area was done in green ceramic fired brick. The auditorium and 

administration offices were iITTnediately adjacent to this entry area. 

Truly this was an interesting example of modern architecture.
45 

On September 1, 1965, "Opening Day" for the Hopkinsville Com­

munity College was held with a beginning enrollment of 300 . Officials 

had not expected more than 175 students. The enrollment included more 

~5 An administrative staff of si x 
than 200 beginning full-time freshmen. 

. 47 
and a fa culty of ten assumed the duties of the college operation. 

45The Kentuc ky Architect, lac. cit. 

46 Kentucky New Era, September 2, 1965 · 

4 7" D. . . 11 e Community Co 11 ege, ,rectory, Hopk1ns v1 
" January, 1966. 



A crowd of abo ut 450 persons 
attended th e dedication 

nial convoca tion of the University of K and Centen-
entucky, Hopkinsvill C . 

college on September 9, 1965. A recurri e 0mmunity 
ng theme of remark 

k th s made by 
featured spea ers was e continuing of al 

ong cultural and acad . 
. H k . . 11 em, c 

tradition ,n op insv, e. Governor Edward T . 
. Breathitt featured 

expectations of the continuing traditions of th . 
e co11111un1ty and the 

commonwealth when he said, "If Kentucky is 
to qrow in wisdom and strength 

then we must continue to meet our challenges in h" h . 19 er education. This 
day in Hopkinsville's history will long be rememb db 

ere ecause every 

Person will be touched by the influence of this colle . ge as 1t elevates 

the standards of citizenship and broadens the commodities of knowledge." 

or. John W. Oswald, President of the University of Kentucky, stressed the 

activities highlighting the Centennial Year of the University. In his 

continuing remarks concerning the local institution, Dr. Oswald said, 

11 The 332 members of the first class, the 16 members of the first faculty, 

the director, and the distinguished citizens of this community can take 

great pride in the dedication of this great institution as a preservation 

of sound academic tradition. ,.4B 

During the first year of the college operation much emphasis was 

placed on the development of student activities. Many of the students 

took the initiative in creating a number of organizations during the year . 

Before receiving official recognition, ,"'11 the groups were required to 

have a faculty advisor, submit for faculty approval a conS t itution 

Groups established during the first 
and by-laws, and a membership roster. 

Co-Ed League, OeMolay Club, 
Year were the following: Circle K Club, 

d a student Reading Group, an 
Baptist Student Union, Chess Club, and Honors 

48 Kentucky New Era, September 9, 1965 



newspaper , The Commu n it e Ch 
ronicl e. The 

newspaper served a 
par ti cularly useful role during the year. 

Effective co . 
d t . . mmun1cation w1' th 

Co..,.,,uter stu ens was one of the diff 
"'" icult probl 

ems of the community 
college . The student paper, well written and 

interesting, was Widely 
read by a 11 students. 

The Student Council was · organized with the goal in . d 
. . . m,n of pro-

vidi ng a realistic means of giving the stud t b . 
en ody a voice in the 

administration of student affairs. The . 
council was so planned as to 

give appropriate representation to all geographical 
areas served by the 

college. The council served not only as th e means of expression of 

student interests, the 
11

sounding board, 11 but also as the coordinating 

group for all clubs, organizations, and student activities. 

Admissions to the college the first year were of three types: 

freshmen, sophomore, and non-degree. Students interested in the non­

degree program were classified as auditor, irregular, transient, or 

special student. Enrollment from Fort Campbell during the first year 

totaled nine students. They were a part of the Military General Educa-

tion Development Program and received three-quarter tuition assistance 

from the U.S. Army. 49 

The interest in and support of financing the College's scholar-

shi P program by local community and business leaders was outsta nd ing 

during the academic year of 1965-1966. Qualified students in the area 

had access to a half-million dollar college student loan fund provided 

. l d d the Elizabeth 
by local sources. These financial resources ,nc u e 

the First Baptist Church 
5t0 ne Fund, the Rotary Student Loan Fund ' and 

49Riley, lac. cit. 

68 



Fund• some 35 Christian County s tudents 
availed themsel 

the f irst year.50 ves of thi s local Program duri ng Joan 

The financial operati on of the 11 co ege was divided into f 
major areas. The four functio nal areas were admi . our 

. nistration, instruction 
library, and maintenance and operation. Th , 

e budget for 1965-1966 
Th · t b . was 

$172 ,000. ,s amoun was a normal because of initial 

nance equipment and business machines. The funds 

appropriated by the state legislature.51 

needs for mainte­

for this budget were 

After one year of operation' the many programs of the Hopkins­

ville Community College were well under way. The comm •t un1 Y of western 
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Kentucky, the faculty and the staff, the student body, and the University 

of Kentucky were proud of the successful beginning of the college.52 

Every effort was made to involve and inform the community as 

planning for programs of the college progressed. The entire community 

had come to identify the college as "their community college. 11 Solid 

and strong support was the result. Much credit for the support was due 

the advisory board for its untiring efforts in clearing away many poten­

tial hurdles for the college. Other community groups active in support 

were the agricultural planning committee and the business and professional 

people. A l oca 1 University of Kentucky Alumni Club had shown active 

interest. Strong support of the college by this key leadership became a 

prime product of such organizational assistance.
53 

SOR .1 . 
1 ey, lac. cit. 

51 Ibid. 
Interview, June 23, 1966. 

52Thomas L. Riley, Age 39, Personal 

53 Riley, "Activity Report," loc. cit. 



The involvement of t he community , with its 
l eade rs in all · · · Phases 
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11ege work, beg inning with the initial pl anning 
of co , was a great b 

the involveme nt of these various enefit. 
It i s f rom support groups that th 

ecol-ould achieve its grea test opportunities for . 
1ege w service in the future. 

The i mpro veme nt of the Hopkinsville Community College in th 

ahead l·s based on four specific aims: 

1. 

2. 

3. 

4. 

A syst~matic ~nd greatly strengthened program of 
academic affairs. -

Informational pr?grams ~~signed to build and further 
strengthen a desirable image 11 for the College. 

Increased attention will be brought to the comprehen­
sive nature of the College, with additional stress on 
the terminal, continuing education, and graduate 
offerings by Extension. 

To explore all means possible to strengthen the 
Library's current holdings.54 

e yea rs 

The lifeblood of the Community College will depend on community 

55 understanding, involvement, and support. 

l ·twill perish; if on 
If we work upon ~arb_e, ~ rear temples, they 

brass, time w~ll effac~ it; ~; :e work upon immo~tal 
will crumble into dust, .but 1 . i les, with the Just 
minds, and imbue them wi th P;~~fo~ men, we engrave on 
fear of God and love of our . 11 brighten to a 11 
those tablets something th at w, 
eternity. --Daniel Webster 

t ,, loc. cit. 54
Riley, "Activity Repor' June 23, 1972• 

1 Interview, 55 Age 45, Persona Thomas L. Ril ey, 
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